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balance sheets and financial statements for the years ended
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 Balance Sheets
As of december 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$))

ASSETS
Company Consolidated

Note 2008 2007 2008 2007         
(Restated) (Restated)CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and banks 5 87,513 105,571 350,497 405,392 
Trade accounts receivable 6 428,421 512,094 470,401 535,528 
Inventories 7 60,300 29,246 333,632 251,079 
Recoverable taxes 8 45,942 2,022 122,364 49,368 
Related parties 10 18,518 12,456 - - 
Deferred income tax and social contribution 9.a 43,367 25,812 77,024 52,327 
Unrealized gains on derivative transactions 22.d 35,393 - 38,062 - 
Advances to employees and suppliers 6,192 2,305 6,941 3,569 
Other receivables 34,096 11,606 64,247 25,513 
Total current assets 759,742 701,112 1,463,168 1,322,776 

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Long-term assets: 

Recoverable taxes 8 7,521 2,370 20,823 22,284 
Deferred income tax and social contribution 9.a 17,407 16,647 36,958 34,318 
Escrow deposits 16 37,187 35,119 41,017 38,603 
Advances to employees and suppliers - 785 2,071 4,531 
Temporary cash investments 5 e 16.g - - 5,250 4,848 
Advance for future capital increase 10 45 25 - - 

Investments 11 864,142 766,439 - - 
Property, plant and equipment 12 40,573 27,866 494,008 474,442 
Intangible assets 12 6,300 6,548 52,612 63,817 
Total noncurrent assets 973,175 855,799 652,739 642,843   
TOTAL ASSETS 1,732,917 1,556,911 2,115,907 1,965,619 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Company Consolidated

Note 2008 2007 2008 2007         
(Restated) (Restated)

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans and financing 14 5,293 120,785 190,550 288,959 
Domestic suppliers 51,066 43,092 182,617 173,574 
Foreign suppliers 148 148 3,571 2,076 
Suppliers - related parties 10 250,555 145,037 - - 
Salaries, profit sharing and related charges 55,062 33,776 130,706 87,068 
Taxes payable 15 64,361 85,141 177,802 118,511 
Dividends and interest on capital 10 e 19.b 311,854 237,898 311,854 237,898 
Accrued freight 24,963 17,231 25,560 18,044 
Reserve for tax, civil and labor contingencies 16 15,791 - 15,791 13,420 
Allowance for losses on derivative transactions 22.d - 3,813 - 6,351 
Other payables 23,364 19,456 29,085 21,436 
Sundry accruals - 835 - 888 
Total current liabilities 802,457 707,212 1,067,536 968,225 

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans and financing 14 177,972 116,847 289,480 259,992 
Reserve for tax, civil and labor contingencies 16 33,592 33,270 51,144 51,021 
Allowance for investment losses 11 701 10,060 - - 
Other payables 7,020 5,401 9,324 7,342 
Total noncurrent liabilities 219,285 165,578 349,948 318,355    

MINORITY INTEREST - - 1 1   

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Capital 19.a 391,423 390,618 391,423 390,618 
Capital reserves 19.e 140,470 154,403 140,470 154,403 
Profit reserves 19.f 174,489 170,318 161,736 165,235 
Valuation adjustments to shareholders' equity 5,161 (8,403) 5,161 (8,403)
Treasury shares 19.c (368) (2,701) (368) (2,701)
Accumulated losses - (20,114) - (20,114)
Total shareholders' equity 711,175 684,121 698,422 679,038 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 1,732,917 1,556,911 2,115,907 1,965,619 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements os Income
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$, except earnings per share)

Company Consolidated
Note 2008 2007 2008 2007         

(Restated) (Restated)

GROSS SALES
To domestic market 4,575,865 4,083,301 4,635,665 4,111,505 
To foreign market - - 275,274 188,884 
Other sales 1 56 1,294 1,225  
GROSS OPERATING REVENUE 4,575,866 4,083,357 4,912,233 4,301,614  

Taxes on sales, returns and rebates (744,927) (914,744) (1,294,214) (1,228,915)

NET OPERATING REVENUE 3,830,939 3,168,613 3,618,019 3,072,699   

Cost of sales (1,597,855) (1,232,280) (1,154,669) (992,253)

GROSS PROFIT 2,233,084 1,936,333 2,463,350 2,080,446  

OPERATING (EXPENSES) INCOME
Selling (1,017,117) (847,329) (1,259,273) (1,033,195)
Administrative and general (485,748) (469,632) (404,529) (383,745)
Employee profit sharing (20,332) (10,541) (56,927) (28,664)
Management compensation 18 (10,087) (6,414) (13,853) (9,539)
Equity in subsidiaries 11 (9,125) (11,775) - - 
Other operating income (expenses), net 24 30,738 (4,081) 28,353 3,973 

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE FINANCIAL (EXPENSES) INCOME 721,413 586,561 757,121 629,276 
Financial expenses 23 (84,111) (31,876) (119,149) (58,279)
Financial income 23 66,343 27,595 109,707 51,039 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX AND   SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION 703,645 582,280 747,679 622,036  
Income tax and social contribution 9.b (177,864) (122,210) (229,568) (156,627)

NET INCOME 525,781 460,070 518,111 465,409

EARNINGS PER SHARE - R$ 1,2254 1,0730 1,2075 1,0855 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements os Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (Company)
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$, except dividends per share)

Capital reserves
Tax incentive Valuation 

reserve Additional adjustments to
Share Investment paid-up Profit reserves shareholders’ Treasury Accumulated

Note Capital premium grants capital Legal Retention equity shares losses Total

BALANCES AS OF  
DECEMBER 31, 2006 - 
AS PER LAW No. 6,404/76 233,862 120,770 14,587 - 18,650 263,830 (724) - 650,975 
Acquisition of treasury shares 19.c - - - - - - - (22,701) - (22,701)
Sale of treasury shares due to 
exercise of stock options - (13,273) - - - - - 20,724 - 7,451 
Share payment by shareholders - 92 - - - - - - - 92 
Capital increase through 
subscription of shares 19.a 2,817 - - - - - - - - 2,817 
Capital increase through 
capitalization of profit reserve 19.f 153,939 - - - - (153,939) - - - - 
Tax incentives - - - 2,791 - - - - - - 2,791 
Net income - - - - - - - - - 456,914 456,914 
Allocation of net income:

Dividends - R$0,8767 
per outstanding share  19.b - - - - - - - - (375,890) (375,890)
Interest on capital - R$0,0778 
per outstanding share 19.b - - - - - - - - (39,247) (39,247)
Profit retention reserve  19.h - - - - - 41,777 - - (41,777) - 

BALANCES AS OF  
DECEMBER 31, 2007 - 390,618 107,589 17,378 - 18,650 151,668 - (2,701) - 683,202
AS PER LAW No. 6,404/76

Adjustments for the first-time 
adoption of Law No. 11,638/07 
and Provisional Act No. 449/08:

Adjustment to fair value 
of derivatives:

Prior years 3 - - - - - - - - (18) (18)
  Year ended December 31, 2007 3 - - - - - - - - 1,900 1,900 

Cumulative adjustment from 
translation of financial statements 
of foreign subsidiaries-

Year ended December 31, 2007 3 - - - - - - (8,403) - 8,403 - 
Stock options plans - grant 
of stock options:

Prior years 3 - - - 9,193 - - - - (9,193) - 
Year ended December 31, 2007 3 - - - 3,405 - - - - (3,405) - 

Stock options plans - exercise 
of stock options--

Year ended December 31, 2007 3 - 9,145 - (9,145) - - - - - - 
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Statements os Changes in Shareholders’ Equity (Company)
continuation

Capital reserves
Tax incentive Valuation 

reserve Additional adjustments to
Share Investment paid-up Profit reserves shareholders’ Treasury Accumulated

Note Capital premium grants capital Legal Retention equity shares losses Total

Equity in subsidiaries:
Prior years 3 - - - 12,845 - - - - (14,066) (1,221)
Year ended December 31, 2007 3 - - - 3,993 - - - - (3,096) 897 

Deferred income tax and 
social contribution::

Prior years 3 - - - - - - - - 7 7 
Year ended December 31, 2007 3 - - - - - - - - (646) (646)

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 31,
2007 - ADJUSTED AS PER LAW 390,618 116,734 17,378 20,291 18,650 151,668 (8,403) (2,701) (20,114) 684,121
No. 11,638/07 AND 
PROVISIONAL ACT No. 449/08

Absorption of accumulated losses 
with profit retention reserve - - - - - (20,114) - - 20,114 - 
Acquisition of treasury shares 19.c - - - - - - - (21,124) - (21,124)
Sale of treasury shares due to 
exercise of stock options - (20,837) - - - - - 23,457 - 2,620 
Capital increase through 
subscription of shares 19.a 805 - - - - - - - - 805 
Cumulative adjustment from 
translation of financial statements 
of foreign subsidiaries 11 - - - - - - 13,564 - - 13,564 
Changes in stock option plans:

Grant of stock options 20 - - - 5,088 - - - - - 5,088 
Exercise of stock options 20 - 5,956 - (5,956) - - - - - - 

Net income - - - - - - - - 525,781 525,781 
Allocation of net income:

Recognition of tax incentive reserve - - 1,816 - - - - - (1,816) - 
Interim dividends - R$0,4382 
per outstanding share 19.b - - - - - - - - (188,000) (188,000)
Proposed dividends - R$0,5934 
per outstanding share 19.b - - - - - - - - (254,215) (254,215)
Proposed interest on capital - 
R$0,1138 per outstanding share 19.b - - - - - - - - (57,465) (57,465)
Profit retention reserve 19.f - - - - - 24,285 - - (24,285) - 

BALANCES AS OF DECEMBER 
31, 2008 - AS PER LAW 391,423 101,853 19,194 19,423 18,650 155,839 5,161 (368) - 711,175
No. 11,638/07 AND
PROVISIONAL ACT No. 449/08

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$)

Company Consolidated  
Note 2008 2007 2008 2007         

(Restated) (Restated))
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income 525,781 460,070 518,111 465,409 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 11 9,564 8,523 89,608 76,347 
Inflation and exchange rate fluctuations, except those related 
to tax, civil and labor contingencies 32,544 (5,829) 46,217 (15,909)
Allowance for losses on swap and forward contracts 22 (35,393) 22,935 (94,014) 25,281 
Reserve for tax, civil and labor contingencies, including adjustment for inflation 16 17,539 (18,770) 5,633 (4,776)
Deferred income tax and social contribution 9.a (17,843) (3,900) (33,582) (22,938)
Proceeds from sale and disposal of property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets 7,589 819 7,729 8,190 
Equity in subsidiaries 11 9,125 3,412 - - 
Interest on loans 5,178 3,027 30,363 23,586 
Expenses on stock options plans 2,055 3,405 5,088 7,399 
Other adjustments to income, including allowance for inventory losses 3,320 998 1,506 9,630 
Minority interest - - - (3)

559,459 474,690 576,659 572,216(Increase) decrease in assets:
Current assets: 

Trade accounts receivable 83,673 (155,913) 65,127 (164,112)
Inventories (31,054) (1,585) (84,059) (28,107)
Other receivables (28,537) (8,482) (26,110) (5,527)  

Noncurrent assets (long-term assets)::
Escrow deposits (16,821) (67,792) (15,276) (68,144)
Recoverable taxes (5,151) (380) 1,461 (1,303)
Other receivables 764 1,443 2,465 878 

2,874 (232,709) (56,392) (266,315)Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Current liabilities: 

Suppliers 113,477 (22,149) 9,029 (31,141)
Salaries, profit sharing and related charges, net 17,399 22 35,364 (1,141)
Taxes payable, net (44,540) 51,176 59,291 64,049 
Payment of contingencies (1,012) (424) (1,094) (442)
Other payables 11,647 4,037 17,784 (551)

Noncurrent liabilities-
Other payables 1,621 2,181 2,532 2,994 

98,592 34,843 122,906 33,768
Net cash provided by operating activities 660,925 276,824 643,173 339,669

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 12 (25,428) (16,402) (102,678) (124,131)
Investments 11 (139,646) (64,495) - - 
Dividends received from subsidiaries 34,800 - - - 
Other investments - - - 630 

Net cash used in investing activities (130,274) (80,897) (102,678) (123,501)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayments of loans and financing - principal (380,800) (393,964) (556,421) (570,267)
Repayments of loans and financing - interest (2,950) (1,824) (18,053) (14,241)
Funding - loans and financing 283,485 596,596 429,392 913,537 
Payments of swap and forward contracts 22 (4,847) (21,133) 9,376 (21,790)
Payment of dividends and interest on capital 19.b (425,898) (391,052) (425,898) (391,052)
Capital increasel 19.a 805 2,817 805 2,817 
Acquisition of treasury shares (21,124) (22,701) (21,124) (22,701)
Sale of treasury shares due to exercise of stock options 19.c 2,620 7,451 2,620 7,451 
Share payment by shareholders - 92 - 92  

Net cash used in financing activities (548,709) (223,718) (579,303) (96,154)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and banks - - (16,087) 10,222 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND BANKS (18,058) (27,791) (54,895) 130,236

Cash and banks at beginning of year 105,571 133,362 405,392 275,156 
Cash and banks at end of year 87,513 105,571 350,497 405,392 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND BANKS (18,058) (27,791) (54,895) 130,236

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOWS INFORMATION
Income tax and social contribution paid 179,044 122,010 232,708 156,527 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Statements of  Value Added 
For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$) 

Controladora Consolidado
Note 2008 2007 2008 2007         

(Restated) (Restated)

REVENUES 4,504,925 4,022,979 4,827,346 4,237,900

Sales of products and services 4,569,267 4,075,403 4,897,396 4,291,770 
Allowance for doubtful accounts - reversal (recognition) (64,159) (53,109) (67,482) (54,382)
Nonoperating (183) 685 (2,568) 512 

INPUTS PURCHASED FROM THIRD PARTIES (3,004,808) (2,525,201) (2,609,142) (2,329,712)

Cost of sales and services (1,786,227) (1,431,092) (1,543,018) (1,362,574)
Materials, electric power, outside services and other (1,218,581) (1,094,109) (1,066,124) (967,138)

GROSS VALUE ADDED 1,500,117 1,497,778 2,218,204 1,908,188 

RETENTIONS (9,564) (8,523) (87,972) (74,916) 
Depreciation and amortization 12 (9,564) (8,523) (87,972) (74,916)

VALUE ADDED GENERATED BY THE COMPANY 1,490,553 1,489,255 2,130,232 1,833,272  

VALUE ADDED RECEIVED IN TRANSFER 57,218 13,920 109,582 51,039 

Equity in subsidiaries 11 (9,125) (11,775) - - 
Financial income - includes inflation and exchange rate changes 66,343 25,695 109,582 51,039 

TOTAL VALUE ADDED TO DISTRIBUTE 1,547,771 1,503,175 2,239,814 1,884,311 

DISTRIBUTION OF VALUE ADDED (1,547,771) 100% (1,503,175) 100% (2,239,814) 100% (1,884,311) 100%
Employees (167,807) 11% (141,485) 9% (556,371) 25% (390,264) 21%
Taxes and contributions (764,649) 49% (877,065) 58% (1,028,763) 46% (948,253) 50%
Financial expenses and rentals (91,350) 6% (27,711) 2% (136,569) 6% (83,539) 4%
Dividends (442,215) 29% (375,890) 25% (442,215) 20% (375,890) 20%
Interest on capital (57,465) 4% (39,247) 3% (57,465) 3% (39,247) 2%
Retained earnings (*) (24,285) 2% (41,777) 3% (18,431) 1% (47,118) 3%

(*) Unrealized profit on subsidiaries has been eliminated. 

Supplemental statement of value added information

Of the amounts recorded under caption "Taxes and contributions" in2008 and 2007, the amounts of R$ 407,250 and R$ 506,085, respectively, refer
to State VA Tunder the taxpayers' substitution regime (ICMS-ST) levied on the estimated profit margin defined by the State Finance Secretariats
obtained from sales made by Natura beauty consultants to final consumers 

For the analysis of this tax impact on the statement of value added, these amounts should be deducted from those recorded under captions "Sales
of products and services" and "Taxes and contributions", since sales revenues do not include the estimated profit attributable to Natura beauty con-
sultants on the sale of products, in the amounts of R$ 2,023,795 and R$ 1,722.090 in 2008 and 2007, respectively, considering an estimated profit
margin of 30%.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. .
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Notes To The Consolidated Financial Statements  
For The Years Ended December 31, 2008 And 2007
(Amounts in thousands of Brazilian reais - R$, unless otherwise stated) 

1. OPERATIONS

Natura Cosméticos S.A. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries are engaged in
the development, production, distribution and sale, substantially through di-
rect sales by Natura beauty consultants, of cosmetics, fragrances in general
and personal hygiene products. The Company also holds equity interests in
other companies in Brazil and abroad. 

The Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on March 31, 2008 approved
the transfer to the Company of the negative shareholders’ equity of the sub-
sidiary Nova Flora Participações Ltda. based on an independent appraisers’
report. This transfer did not change the operations described in the previous
paragraph. 

The negative shareholders’ equity of the subsidiary Nova Flora Participações
Ltda. transferred to the Company was R$10,059 as of December 31, 2007,
and is composed as follows:

ASSETS  LIABILITIES 

CURRENT ASSETS  CURRENT LIABILITIES

Cash and banks 27 Domestic suppliers 18 
Deferred income tax  Reserve for civil contingencies 13,421 

and social contribution 4,563 Other payables 833 

Total current assets 4,590 Total current liabilities 14,272 

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Allowance for investment losses 352 
Advance for future 

capital increase 25 

Total noncurrent liabilities 377 

SHAREHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

Capital 3.695 
Accumulated losses (13,754)

Total shareholders’ deficit (10,059)

TOTAL ASSETS 4,590 TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,590

In recording adjustments resulting from the transfer of the negative share-
holders’ equity, balances and transactions between the merged company and
the Company have been eliminated, and investment and shareholders’ deficit
have been considered as required by Brazilian accounting practices. 

Additionally, on March 31, 2008, concurrently with the transfer, the Com-
pany’s shareholders decided to approve two capital increases in the sub-
sidiary Nova Flora Participações Ltda. in the total amount of R$16,735,
represented by 16,735 new shares with par value of R$1.00 each, which were
fully paid up in local currency. Therefore, capital was increased from R$3,695
to R$20,430.

2. PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING PRACTICES

The financial statements have been prepared and are being presented in con-
formity with Brazilian accounting practices and the standards established by the
Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission (CVM), in accordance with Cor-
porate Law, including the changes introduced by Law No. 11,638/07 and Provi-
sional Act No. 449/08, as described in note 3.

The preparation of financial statements requires Management to make esti-

mates and assumptions to report certain assets, liabilities and other transac-
tions, such as reserve for tax, civil and labor contingencies, allowances for
losses on receivables and inventories, and realization of deferred income tax
and social contribution, which represent Company’s and its subsidiaries’ Man-
agement’s best estimates. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Significant accounting practices applied are as follows:

a) Cash and banks

Include cash, bank deposits and highly liquid temporary investments, stated at
cost plus income earned through the balance sheet dates, which does not ex-
ceed their fair or realizable value. 

b) Financial instruments 

(i) Classification and measurement 

The Company and its subsidiaries classify their financial assets under the fol-
lowing categories: (i) financial assets measured at fair value through profit or
loss; and (ii) financial assets and liabilities held-to-maturity. The classification de-
pends on the purpose for which the financial assets and liabilities were ac-
quired. The Company’s and its subsidiaries’ Management classifies their
financial assets and liabilities when they are contracted. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

This category includes only derivatives financial instruments, classified as held-
-for-trading. The assets under this category are classified in current assets, and
gains and losses arising from fluctuations in fair value are recorded under the
captions “Financial income” or “Financial expense”. 

Financial assets and liabilities held-to-maturity 

In the case of the Company and its subsidiaries, these comprise basically tem-
porary cash investments and bank loans and financing. They are measured at
cost, plus income earned according to contractual terms and conditions, in
the case of temporary cash investments, and at amortized cost using the ef-
fective interest rate method, in the case of bank loans and financing, and are
recorded in the statement of income on the accrual basis. 

(ii) Derivatives 

Are, initially, recognized at cost on the date they are contracted and subse-
quently remeasured at fair value, and changes in fair value are recorded in the
statement of income. 

Derivatives are usually measured by the Company’s treasury area based on
the information on each contracted transaction and the related market in-
formation at the balance sheet dates, such as interest rate and foreign ex-
change coupon. When applicable, such information is compared with the
positions reported by the trading desks of each involved financial institution. 

Even though the Company and its subsidiaries use derivatives for hedging
purposes, it does not apply hedge accounting. 

The fair value of derivatives is disclosed in note 22.
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c) Trade accounts receivable and doubtful accounts

Stated at their present value, less the allowance for doubtful accounts, which
is recognized based on an analysis of risks on collection of receivables, in an
amount considered sufficient to cover possible losses, as described in note 6.

As receivables are usually settled within a period of less than 30 days, the car-
rying amounts represent substantially their fair values at the balance sheet
date.

d) Inventories

Stated at the average cost of acquisition or production, adjusted to market
value and potential losses, when applicable. Details are disclosed in note 7.

e) Investments 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for under the equity method, as
shown in note 11.

Exchange gains or losses on the translation of financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries, for equity accounting and consolidation of financial statements
purposes, are allocated to the caption “Valuation adjustments to shareholders’
equity”, in shareholders’ equity, and reclassified to the statement of income
upon the sale of the investment, if applicable.

f) Foreign currency transactions 

Are translated to Brazilian reais at the exchange rates prevailing on the trans-
action dates. Balance sheet figures are translated at the exchange rates pre-
vailing at the balance sheet dates. Exchange gains and losses arising from the
settlement of these transactions and the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the statement
of income.

g) Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Recorded at acquisition and/or construction cost, adjusted for inflation
through December 31, 1995, plus interest capitalized during the construction
period, when applicable. Depreciation and amortization are calculated under
the straight-line method, considering the rates shown in note 12 

Pursuant to the exemption provided in paragraph 54 of Accounting Pro-
nouncements Committee Standard (CPC) 13 - First-time Adoption of Law
No. 11,638/07 and Provisional Act No. 449/08, the Company and its sub-
sidiaries will conduct the first periodic analysis of the economic useful lives of
the assets, effective January 1, 2009.

Additionally, those rights in tangible assets that are used in the operations of
the Company and its subsidiaries, arising from capital lease transactions, are
recorded as financed purchases, and a fixed asset and a financing liability are
recognized at the start of each transaction, depreciated based on the esti-
mated useful lives of the assets. Software licenses acquired are capitalized
and amortized based on the rates described in note 12, and expenses related
to software maintenance are recognized as expenses when incurred.

h) Expenses on product research and development 

Recognized as expenses when incurred.

i) Deferred charges

Represented by goodwill arising from the merger of shares of Natura Em-
preendimentos S.A. into Natura Participações S.A., less the provision to main-
tain payment capacity for future dividends, as described in note 13.

j) Impairment assessment

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and other noncurrent assets
are annually tested to identify evidences of impairment, or also significant
events or changes in circumstances that indicate that their carrying amounts
cannot be recovered. When applicable, when there is a loss, arising from sit-
uations where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, defined as the higher of value in use and net selling price, this loss is
recognized in the statement of income.

k) Current and noncurrent liabilities

Stated at known or estimated amounts, plus, when applicable, related charges
and inflation and exchange rate changes incurred through the balance sheet
dates.

l) Income tax and social contribution

Income tax is calculated at the rate of 15%, plus a 10% surtax on annual tax-
able income exceeding R$240. Social contribution is calculated at the rate of
9% on taxable income. Deferred income tax and social contribution recorded
in current and noncurrent assets. arise from temporary differences repre-
sented by temporarily nondeductible expenses recorded in income.

Pursuant to CVM Resolution No. 273/98 and CVM Instruction No. 371/02,
deferred taxes are recorded at probable realizable values. Details are dis-
closed in note 9.

m) Loans and financing

Loans are initially recognized at fair value of proceeds received, less the costs
of transaction. They are subsequently carried at amortized cost, i.e., plus
charges, interest and inflation and exchange rate changes incurred through
the balance sheet dates, as shown in note 14.

n) Reserve for tax, civil and labor contingencies 

Adjusted for inflation through the balance sheet dates to cover probable
losses, based on the nature of contingencies and the opinion of the Com-
pany’s and its subsidiaries’ attorneys. For financial statement presentation pur-
poses, these reserves are stated net of related escrow deposits. The basis
and nature of the reserve for tax, civil and labor contingencies are described
in note 16.

o) Derivative transactions (swaps and forwards)

The nominal values of swap and forward transactions are not recorded in the
balance sheets. Unrealized net gains or losses on these transactions, measured
at fair value, are recorded on the accrual basis of accounting, as mentioned
in notes 22.b) and 22.d).

p) Financial income and expenses 

Represented by interest and inflation and exchange rate changes on cash in-
vestments, escrow deposits, loans and financing, and derivative transactions
consisting of swaps and forwards, as mentioned in note 23. 

q) Interest on capital

For corporate and accounting purposes, interest on capital is state as alloca-
tion of income directly in shareholders’ equity. 

r) Earnings per share

Calculated based on the number of shares at the balance sheet dates, ex-
cluding treasury shares. 

s) Stock option plans 

The Company offers to its employees and executives share-based compen-
sation plans, settled with Company’s shares, under which the Company re-
ceives services in return for stock options. The fair value of the options
granted is recognized as an expense in the statement of income during the
vesting period, and options are vested after certain specific conditions are
fulfilled. At the balance sheet dates, the Company’s Management reviews its
estimates on the number of options 



10

vested based on the conditions fulfilled and, when applicable, recognizes in the
statement of income as a contra entry to shareholders’ equity the effect aris-
ing from the revision of the initial estimates. 

t) Results of operations

Income and expenses are recorded on the accrual basis. 

Income from tax incentives, received in the form of a monetary asset, is rec-
ognized in the statement of income when received. There are no established
conditions to be met by the Company that might affect the recognition of
income in the statement of income.

3. FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF THE CHANGES IN BRAZILIAN
ACCOUNTING PRACTICES

The enacted Law No. 11,638/07 and Provisional Act No. 449/08 altered, re-
voked and added new provisions to the Brazilian Corporate Law (Law No.
6,404/76), especially with respect to chapter XV. Said Law and Provisional Act
are effective for fiscal years ended on or after December 31, 2008 and apply
to all entities established as corporations, including public-traded companies
and large companies.  

These changes were designed primarily to update the Brazilian Corporate
Law, so as to enable the convergence of Brazilian accounting practices with
international accounting standards (IFRS) and allow the regulatory agencies
and CVM to issue new accounting standards and procedures, consistent with
such international accounting standards. 

Additionally, as a result of the enactment of said Law and Provisional Act, in
2008 the Accounting Pronouncements Committee (CPC) issued several ac-
counting pronouncements mandatory for the closing of the financial state-
ments for the year ended December 31, 2008. 

The main changes in accounting practices introduced by Law No. 11,638/07
and articles 36 and 37 of Provisional Act No. 449/08 applicable to the Com-
pany and its subsidiaries and adopted in the preparation of the financial state-
ments for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were as follows: 

a) Replacement of the statement of changes in financial position by the state-
ment of cash flows, prepared in accordance with CPC 03 - Statement of
Cash Flows. Up to December 31, 2007, the Company presented this state-
ment as supplemental information. 

b) Inclusion of the statement of value added, prepared in accordance with
CPC 09 - Statement of Value Added. Up to December 31, 2007, the Com-
pany presented this statement as supplemental information. 

c) Creation of a new account group, “Intangible assets”, which includes good-
will, for purposes of balance sheet presentation. The Company already pre-
sented the balance of intangible assets classified under this caption. 

d) Requirement for the periodic test for impairment of amounts recorded in
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and deferred charges to en-
sure, as regulated by CPC 01 - Impairment of Assets (required only for the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2008). This change did
not generate any impacts to be recognized in the financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2008.

e) Requirement to record under the caption “Property, plant and equipment”
those rights in tangible assets that are maintained or used in the operations
of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ business, including those rights received
as a result of transactions classified as capital leases, as regulated by CPC 06
- Leases. 

f) Requirement that investments in financial instruments, including derivatives,
be accounted for: (i) at fair value or equivalent value for trading securities or
securities available for sale; and (ii) at the lower of acquisition or historical cost,
adjusted for contractual interest and other contractual provisions, and realizable
value for other investments, for held-to-maturity securities, as regulated by CPC
14 - Financial Instruments. However, this change generated impacts only in the
measurement of derivatives, as temporary cash investments held by the Com-
pany and its subsidiaries are classified as “Held-to-maturity” and thus continued
to be measured at amortized cost, as mentioned in note 22.

g) Profit distributed to debentureholders, employees and management, even
as financial instruments, and employees’ pension funds and health care plans,
which does not qualify as expenses, shall be recorded as expenses, accord-
ing to their nature. This change also affects the management’s and employ-
ees’ share-based compensation, as regulated by CPC 10 - Share-based
Payment. 

h) Discontinuation of the presentation of the caption “Nonoperating income
(expenses)” in the statement of income, as regulated by Provisional Act No.
449/08.

i) Elimination of items “c” and “d” of paragraph 1 of article 182 of Law No.
6,404/76 that permitted recording: (i) the premium received on issue of
debentures; and (ii) donations and government investment grants directly as
capital reserves in shareholders’ equity. Change applicable to the Company
only as regards the recognition of tax incentives, where the Company started
to recognize the amounts of such tax incentives directly in the statement of
income, which are subsequently allocated to the caption “Tax incentive re-
serve - Investment grants” in shareholders’ equity, as regulated by CPC 07 -
Government Grants and Government Assistance. 

j) Creation of a new account group, “Valuation adjustments to shareholders’
equity”, in order to record certain fair value adjustments, mainly for financial
instruments, and certain fair value adjustments related to assets and liabilities
as a result of a merger between unrelated parties that results in the transfer
of control. Change applicable to the Company only as regards the recogni-
tion of the effects of exchange rate changes arising from the translation of fi-
nancial statements of foreign subsidiaries for equity accounting and
consolidation of financial statements purposes. 

Considering the changes introduced by Law No. 11,638/07 and Provisional
Act No. 449/08, the effects on the net income for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2007 and prior years, classified as “Accumulated losses” in share-
holders’ equity, previously determined in conformity with the accounting
practices set forth by Law No. 6,404/76, are as follows:

Company

2007 Prior years Total

As per accounting practice - Law No. 6,404/76` 456,914 - 456,914

Adjustments due to changes in 
accounting practices:

Fair value of derivatives 1,900 (18) 1,882 

Cumulative adjustment from translation 
of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries 8,403 - 8,403

Stock option plans - expenses on grant 
of stock options (3,405) (9,193) (12,598)

Equity in subsidiaries (*) (3,096) (14,066) (17,162)

Deferred income tax and social contribution (646) 7 (639)

Total adjustments, net of taxes 3,156 (23,270) (20,114)

As per accounting practice - Law No. 
11,638/07 and Provisional Act No. 449/08 460,070 (23,270) 436,800

(*) Refer to adjustments, net of taxes, arising from changes in accounting practices,
made based on equity in direct and indirect subsidiaries, related to: (a) fair
value of derivatives (applicable to Indústr ia e Comércio de Cosméticos
Natura Ltda. and Natura Logística e Serviços Ltda.); (b) stock option plans
(applicable to Indústria e Comércio de Cosméticos Natura Ltda., Natura
Logística e Serviços Ltda., Natura Inovação e Tecnologia de Produtos Ltda.
and foreign subsidiaries); and (c) capital leases (applicable only to Natura
Logística e Serviços Ltda.).
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Consolidated

2007 Prior years Total 
As per accounting practice - 
Law No. 6,404/76 462,255 - 462,255

Adjustments due to changes 
in accounting practices:

Fair value of derivatives 2,838 (675) 2,163 
Cumulative adjustment from translation 
of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries 8,403 - 8,403
Stock option plans - expenses on grant 
of stock options (7,399) (22.038) (29,437)
Capital leases 421 (1,194) (773)
Deferred income tax and social contribution (1,107) 637 (470)

Total adjustments, net of taxes 3,156 (23,270) (20,114)
Minority interest (2) - (2)

As per accounting practice - 
Law No. 11,638/07 and 
Provisional Act No. 449/08 465,409 (23,270) 442,139

4. CONSOLIDATION CRITERIA 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
consolidation criteria established by Brazilian accounting practices and CVM in-
structions and resolutions, and include the financial statements of the Company and
its direct and indirect subsidiaries, as follows:

Ownership interest - % 
2008 2007

Direct:
Indústria e Comércio de Cosméticos Natura Ltda. 99.99 99.99
Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Chile 99.99 99.99
Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Peru 99.94 99.94
Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Argentina 99.96 99.94
Natura Brasil Cosmética Ltda. - Portugal 98.00 98.00
Nova Flora Participações Ltda. - 99.99
Natura Inovação e Tecnologia de Produtos Ltda. 99.99 99.99
Natura Europa SAS 100.00 100.00
Natura Cosméticos y Servicios de Mexico, 

S.A. de C.V. 99.99 99.99
Natura Cosméticos de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 99.99 99.99
Natura Distribuidora de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 99.99 100.00
Natura Cosméticos C.A. - Venezuela 99.99 99.99
Natura Cosméticos Ltda. - Colombia 99.99 99.99
Natura Cosmetics USA Co. 100.00 99.99
Flora Medicinal J. Monteiro da Silva Ltda. 99.99 -
Natura Cosméticos España S.L. - Spain 100.00 -
Natura (Brasil) International B.V. - The Netherlands 100.00 -

Indirect ownership: 
Natura Logística e Serviços Ltda. 99.99 99.99
Flora Medicinal J. Monteiro da Silva Ltda. - 100.00
Ybios S.A. (proportional consolidation - joint control)) 33.33 33.33
Natura Innovation et Technologie de 

Produits SAS - França 99.99 -
Natura Brasil Inc. (EUA – Delaware) 100.00 -
Natura International Inc (EUA – NY) 100.00 -
Natura Worlwide Trading Company (Costa Rica) 100.00 -

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the fi-
nancial statements as of the same date and consistent with the accounting
practices described in note 2. Investments in subsidiaries have been elimi-
nated in the proportion of the investor’s interest in the shareholders’ equity
and net income of the subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions
and unrealized profits have also been eliminated. The minority interest in the
Company’s subsidiaries is shown separately.

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries have been translated into
Brazilian reais at the exchange rates in effect on the date of the related fi-
nancial statements. 

The shareholders’ equity balances as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, re-
ported by the Company, differ by R$12,753 and R$5,083, respectively, from
those recorded in the consolidated financial statements due to the elimina-
tion of unrealized profits of subsidiaries and the Company. For the same rea-
son, net income balances as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, reported by
the Company, differ by R$7,670 and R$5,339, respectively, from the balances
in the consolidated financial statements.  

The operations of the direct and indirect subsidiaries are as follows: 

a) Indústria e Comércio de Cosméticos Natura Ltda.: engaged principally in
the production and sale of Natura products to Natura Cosméticos S.A. -
Brazil, Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Chile, Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Peru, Natura
Cosméticos S.A. - Argentina, Natura Cosméticos Ltda. - Colombia, Natura Eu-
ropa SAS, Natura Cosméticos de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. and Natura Cosméti-
cos C.A. - Venezuela, which amounts are mentioned in note 10.

b) Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Chile, Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Peru, Natura
Cosméticos S.A. - Argentina, Natura Cosméticos C.A. - Venezuela, Natura
Cosméticos Ltda. - Colombia, Natura Cosmetics USA Co. (in preoperating
stage as of December 31, 2008) and Natura Distribuidora de Mexico, S.A. de
C.V.: their activities are an extension of the activities conducted by the par-
ent company Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Brazil. 

c) Natura Inovação e Tecnologia de Produtos Ltda.: its activities consist of prod-
uct and technology development, and market research. It is wholly owner of
Natura Innovation et Technologie de Produits SAS - France, a research and
technology satellite center opened in 2007 in Paris.

d) Natura Europa SAS: engaged in the purchase, sale, impor t, expor t
and distribution of cosmetics, fragrances in general and personal hy-
giene products.  

e) Natura Cosméticos de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.: engaged in the import and sale
of cosmetics, fragrances in general and personal hygiene products to Natura
Distribuidora de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.  

f) Natura Cosméticos y Servicios de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.: engaged in the pro-
vision of administrative and logistics services to Natura Cosméticos de Mex-
ico, S.A. de C.V. and Natura Distribuidora de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 

g) Natura Cosméticos España S.L. - Spain, Natura (Brasil) International B.V. - The
Netherlands, Natura Brasil Inc. (USA - Delaware), Natura International Inc. (USA
- New York) and Natura Worldwide Trading Company (Costa Rica): compa-
nies in preoperating stage and their activities will be an extension of the activi-
ties developed by Natura Cosméticos S.A.

h) Flora Medicinal J. Monteiro da Silva Ltda.: previously engaged in the sale of
its own brand of phytotherapic and phytocosmetic products. Since 2005 this
company has been dormant. After the merger of Nova Flora Participações
Ltda. on March 31, 2008, Flora Medicinal J. Monteiro da Silva Ltda. became a
direct subsidiary of Natura Cosméticos S.A. 

i) Natura Logística e Serviços Ltda.: engaged in the provision of administra-
tive and logistics services to Natura Group companies based in Brazil. See de-
tails in note 10. 

j) Ybios S.A.: engaged in research, management and development of proj-
ects, products and services in the biotechnology area, and may also enter
into agreements and/or partnerships with universities, foundations, compa-
nies, cooperatives, associations and other public and private entities, provision
of services in the biotechnology area and holding of equity interest in other
companies.  
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k) Natura Innovation et Technologie de Produits SAS - France: primarily en-
gaged in research in the safety and efficacy of active compounds, skin care and
new packaging materials using “in vitro” testing, an alternative to testing on
animals. 

5. CASH AND BANKS 

Company Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007

Cash and banks 19,785 15,347 54,123 49,398

Investments:

Bank certificates of deposit (CDBs) 67,728 89,316 301,624 348,004

Investment funds - 908 - 12,838

87,513 105,571 355,747 410,240

Current 87,513 105,571 350,497 405,392

Noncurrent (note 16.(g) - 
tax contingencies) - - 5,250 4,848

87,513 105,571 355,747 410,240

As of December 31, 2008, interest rate yields for CDBs ranged from 100.0%
to 103.1% of the interbank deposit rate (CDI) (100.0% to 102.0% as of De-
cember 31, 2007). In the consolidated, their share in the total investment
portfolio as of December 31, 2008 was 100.0% (96.4% as of December 31,
2007). In the year ended December 31, 2008, the weighted-average yield of
mutual fund investments was 94.8% of CDI for the year. 

CDBs are classified under caption “Cash and banks” because they are finan-
cial assets that can be redeemed immediately without penalty for early with-
drawal.  

6. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Company Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007

Trade accounts receivable 467,868 546,372 516,865 575,552 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (39,447) (34,278) (46,464) (40,024)

428,421 512,094 470,401 535,528 

Below is the aging of the trade accounts receivable: 

Company Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007
Current 390,196 496,701 434,061 522,409
Up to 30 days past-due 51,043 23,182 56,175 26,654
31 to 60 days past-due 8,437 7,390 8,437 7,390
61 to 90 days past-due 5,736 4,965 5,736 4,965
91 to 180 days past-due 12,456 14,134 12,456 14,134

467,868 546,372 516,865 575,552 

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the year ended Decem-

ber 31, 2008 are as follows:

Company

Balance in Balance in
2007 Additions (a) Reversals Write-offs (b) 2008 

(34,278) (69,436) 21,772 42,495 (39,447)

Consolidated

Balance in Balance in
2007 Additions (a) Reversals Write-offs (b) 2008 

(40,024) (75,170) 25,039 43,691 (46,464)

(a) Allowance recognized as mentioned in note 2.c). 
(b) Refers to accounts over 180 days past-due written off due to failure to collect. 

7. INVENTORIES 
Company Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007

Finished products 59,417 27,713 254,643 198,890

Raw materials and packaging materials - - 84,131 52,850

Promotional materials 3,746 2,677 19,651 21,257

Work in process - - 11,098 7,944

Allowance for inventory losses (2,863) (1,144) (35,891)  (29,862)

60,300 29,246 333,632 251,079 

The increase recorded in the balance of finished products as of December
31, 2008 is substantially justified by the opening, in 2008, of a Distribution
Center in the city of Canoas, State of Rio Grande do Sul, which totaled
R$18,374 as of that date. 

Changes in the allowance for inventory losses for the year ended December
31, 2008 are as follows: 

Company

Balance in Additions, Write-offs Balance in

2007 líquidas(a) (b) 2008

(1,144) (1,718) - (2,863)

Consolidado

Balance in Additions, Write-offs Balance in

2007 líquidas(a) (b) 2008

(29,862) (18,004) 11,975 (35,891)

(a) Refers basically to the recognition of the reserve for discontinuance, expiration and
quality losses, according to the actual need to cover expected losses on the realiza-
tion of inventories and the policy established by the Company and its subsidiaries. 

(b) Refers to write-offs of products discarded b y the Company and its subsidiaries.
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8. RECOVERABLE TAXES

Company Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007

ICMS (State VAT) on purchases of inputs (b) 40,087 1,037 80,439 14,584
ICMS on purchases of fixed assets 2,727 3,170 13,118 18,811
COFINS (tax on revenue) on purchases 
of fixed assets - - 9,217 16,193

ICMS - ST (a) 8,792 - 8,792 -
PIS (tax on revenue) on purchases 
of fixed assets - - 1,955 3,516

Taxes - foreign operations - - 20,482 14,418
PIS and COFINS (taxes on revenue) 
on purchases of inputs 1,857 185 4,214 576

PIS/COFINS and CSLL (social 
contribution on net profit) - 
withheld at source - - 2,302 1,568

IRPJ (corporate income tax) - - 1,691 1,069
CSLL (social contribution on net profit) - - 969 520
Other - - 8 397

53,463 4,392 143,187 71,652

Current 45,942 2,022 122,364 49,368
NonCurrent 7,521 2,370 20,823 22,284

(a) Refers to State VAT under the taxpayers’ substitution regime (ICMS - ST) cred-
its from the State of Santa Catarina that were challenged in court and which were
deposited in escrow in the period from March to December 2007. In January 2008,
the Company entered into an Agreement with the State Government of Santa
Catarina to use a 30% Value-Added Margin (MVA) to calculate the ICMS - ST on
sales made by the Company in 
that State. 

As a result of the above-mentioned Agreement, a total of R$29,938 deposited in
escrow up to December 2007 was converted to revenue for the State. Of this
amount, R$11,436 is being refunded to the Company by the State of Santa Cata-
rina in 24 monthly readjusted installments. This is occurring through offsets against
ICMS - ST due beginning as of April 2008. 

As a result of the disaster that resulted from flooding in the State of Santa Cata-
rina, the Company voluntarily decided to suspend offsets in the months from No-
vember 2008 to January 2009 in order to contribute to the 
State’s recovery. 

For maintaining said Agreement, the Company assumed cer tain commitments
whereby the following items agreed to will be applied in transactions conducted
by Natura beauty consultants in Santa Catarina: (i) in the period from January 1,
2007 to June 30, 2008, a 30% MVA; (ii) starting in October 2008, after approval
by the State of Santa Catarina’s tax authorities, a 35% MVA, calculated based on
the study prepared by Fundação Getúlio Vargas - FGV; and (iii) ICMS paid will be
increased by at least 5% in 2008, compared to 2007, being the Company compli-
ant with this commitment. 

On December 10, 2008, the State of Santa Catarina published Decree No. 1,985,
which requires use of a 35% MVA, determined based on the survey conducted by
Fundação Getúlio Vargas - FGV, contracted by the Brazilian Association of Direct
Sales Companies (ABEVD), for the period from July 2008 to June 2009. .

(b) The increase recorded as of December 31, 2008 refers mainly to ICMS - ST
which was withheld from the Company and its subsidiary Indústria e Comércio de
Cosméticos Natura Ltda. in transactions with products intended for customers lo-
cated in States other than the State of São Paulo and the Federal District. 

The Company and its subsidiary have been offsetting 75% of the monthly credits
determined for ICMS, while the remaining portion is kept for offset within six
months after administrative verification by the São Paulo State Finance Depart-
ment in accordance with the special regime granted to the Company and its sub-
sidiary in September 2008.  

ICMS - ST credits, which amounted to R$40,087 - Company and R$80,439 - con-
solidated, as of December 31, 2008, will be regularly offset according to the sys-
tem described in the above paragraph. 

9. INCOME TAX AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTION 

a) Deferred 

Deferred income tax (corporate income tax - IRPJ) and social contribution
(social contribution on net profit - CSLL) result from temporary differences
(Company and subsidiaries). These credits are recorded in current and non-
current assets, in view of their expected realization. The amounts are as fol-
lows:

Company Consolidated 

2008 2007 2008 2007

Circulante:

Current-

Temporary differences:

Allowance for doubtful accounts (note 6) 13,412 11,655 13,412 11,655

Allowance for inventory losses (note 7) 973 389 11,173 9,382

Non-inclusion of ICMS in the PIS 
and COFINS basis (note 15) 431 701 11,344 4,780

Reserve for tax, civil and labor 
contingencies (note 16) 5,369 - 5,369 4,563

Effects of unrealized profits on inventories 
of the Company and its subsidiaries - - 7,038 3,087

Allowance for losses on swap and forward
contracts (notes 22.b) and 22.d)) 5,305 1,297 5,213 2,160

Unrealized impacts of lease contracts - 
Law No. 11,638/07 - - (62) 263

Provision for ICMS - ST - Paraná (note 15) 5,216 1,931 5,216 1,931

Other provisions 12,661 9,839 18,321 14,506

Deferred income tax and social 
contribution 43,367 25,812 77,024 52,327

Noncurrent:
Temporary differences:

Reserve for tax, civil and labor 
contingencies (note 16) 15,993 15,398 33,797 32,858

Other provisions 1,414 1,249 3,161 1,460

Deferred income tax and social 
contribution 17,407 16,647 36,958 34,318

As required by CVM Resolution No. 273/98 and CVM Instruction 
No. 371/02, Management estimates, based on projections of future taxable
income, that the recorded tax credits will be fully realized within five years.

The amounts recorded in noncurrent assets will be realized 
as follows:

2008 2007

2009 - 21,557

2010 24,539 8,768

2011 8,695 3,690

2012 and thereafter 3,724 303

36,958 34,318
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b) Current 

Reconciliation of income tax and social contribution:
Controladora Consolidado

2008 2007 2008 2007
Income before income tax 
and social contribution 703,645 582,280 747,679 622,036

Income tax and social contribution 
at the rate of 34%  (239,239)(197,975) (254,211) (211,492)

Reversal of provision to maintain 
payment capacity for future 
dividends (note 13) 49,933 49,933 49,933 49,933

Technological research and innovation 
tax benefit -  Law No. 11,196/05 (*) 14,021 13,348 14,021 13,348

Tax incentives (donations) 2,516 2,871 3,495 4,134
Equity in subsidiaries (note 11) (3,103) (4,004) - -
Unrecognized tax credit on tax losses 
generated by foreign subsidiaries - - (43,314) (24,095)

Tax benefit for interest on capital - 13,344 - 13,344
Transition Tax System (RTT) 
(Provisional Act  No. 449/08) - 
adjustment as per Law No. 11,638/07 (4,774) - (5,482) -

Other permanent differences (2,782) 273 5,990 (1,799)
Income tax and social contribution 
expenses (177,864)(122,210) (229,568) (156,627)

Income tax and social contribution - 
current (190,804)(126,110) (254,581) (174,416)

Income tax and social contribution - 
deferred 12,940 3,900 25,013 17,789

Effective rate - % 25,3 21,0 30,7 25,2

(*) Refers to the tax benefit established by Law No. 11,196/05, which allows direct
deduction of 60% of total expenses on technological research and innovation when
calculating taxable income and the social contribution tax base, following rules es-
tablished in this Law.  

10. RELATED PARTIES

Balances receivable from and payable to related parties are as follows:

Company Consolidated
2008 2007 2008 2007

Current assets: 
Natura Inovação e 
Tecnologia de Produtos Ltda. (a) 7,542 5,909 - -
Natura Logística e Serviços Ltda. (b) 10,976 5,714
Nova Flora Participações Ltda. - 833 - -

18,518 12,456 - -
Advance for future capital increase-

Flora Medicinal J. Monteiro 
da Silva Ltda. (c) 45 25 - -

45 25 - -
Current liabilities:
Suppliers:
Indústria e Comércio de 
Cosméticos Natura Ltda. (d) 213,940 110,913 - -
Natura Logística e Serviços Ltda. (e) 21,153 17,411 - -
Natura Inovação e 

Tecnologia de Produtos Ltda. (f) 15,462 16,713 - -
250,555 145,037 - -

Dividends and interest on 
capital payable 311,854 237,898 311,854 237,898    

Transactions with related parties are summarized as follows:

Product sales Product purchases 
2008 2007 2008 2007

Indústria e Comércio
de Cosméticos Natura Ltda. 2,075,190 1,556,816 - -

Natura Cosméticos S.A. - - 1,965,413 1,486,139
Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Peru - - 32,824 19,238
Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Argentina - - 31,477 23,660
Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Chile - - 22,290 11,988
Natura Cosméticos S.A. - México - - 14,727 10,145
Natura Cosméticos Ltda. - Colômbia - - 4,645 1,408
Natura Cosméticos C.A. - Venezuela - - 2,023 1,872
Natura Europa SAS - - 1,423 1,545
Natura Inovação e 
Tecnologia de Produtos Ltda. - - 277 817

Natura Logística e Serviços Ltda. - - 81 4
Natura Cosmetics USA. - - 10 -

2,075,190 1,556,816 2,075,190 1,556,816

Services rendered Services engaged
2008 2007 2008 2007

Administrative structure: (g)
Natura Logística e Serviços Ltda. 287,.278 277,981 - -
Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Brasil - - 217,255 209,806
Indústria e Comércio de 

Cosméticos Natura Ltda. - - 45,812 45,775
Natura Inovação e Tecnologia 

de Produtos Ltda. - - 24,211 22,400
287,278 277,981 287,278 277,981

Product and technology research 
and development: (h) 
Natura Inovação e Tecnologia 

de Produtos Ltda. 164,021 169,181 - -
Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Brasil - - 164,021 169,181

164,021 169,181 164,021 169,181

Research and “in vitro” testing: (i)
Natura Innovation et Technologie 

de Produits SAS - França 3,606 3,331 - -
Natura Inovação e Tecnologia 

de Produtos Ltda. - - 3,606 3,331
3,606 3,331 3,606 3,331

Lease of properties and common 
charges: (j) 
Indústria e Comércio 

de Cosméticos Natura Ltda. 6,126 5,728 - -
Natura Logística e Serviços Ltda. - - 3,559 3,319
Natura Inovação e Tecnologia 

de Produtos Ltda. - - 1,430 1,334
Natura Cosméticos S.A. - Brasil - - 1,137 1,075

6,126 5,728 6,126 5,728

Total services rendered 
and engaged 2,536,221 2,013,037 2,536,221 2,013,037

 (a) Refers to advances granted for provision of product and technology devel-
opment and market research services. 

(b) Refers to advances granted for provision of logistics and general adminis-
trative services. 
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Investments in subsidiaries are as follows: 

Indústria e Flora Natura 
Comércio de Natura Natura Natura Natura Nova Flora Medicinal Inovação e Natura Natura Natura Brasil Natura Natura Natura Natura
Cosméticos Cosméticos Cosméticos Cosméticos Cosméticos Participações J. Monteiro Tecnologia de Europa Cosméticos Cosmética Cosméticos Cosméticos Cosméticos Cosméticos
Natura Ltda. S.A.-Chile S.A.-Peru S.A.-Argentina C.A.-Venezuela Ltda. da Silva Ltda. Produtos Ltda. SAS (*) México Ltda.-Portugal Ltda. EUA Ltda. Colômbia Ltda. Holanda Ltda. Espanha Total

Capital 526,155 83,509 2,532 60,632 6,654 - 33,503 5,008 34,567 87,066 105 32,755 17,011 - - 889,497 
Ownership interest 99,99% 99,99% 99,94% 99,96% 99,99% 100,00% 99,99% 99,99% 100,00% 99,99% 98,00% 100,00% 99,99% 100,00% 100,00% - 
Shareholders’ equity 
of subsidiaries 753,185 15,812 (4,374) 26,077 2,908 - (700) 27,597 16,783 26,492 (1) (2,289) 3,314 - - 864,804 
Interest in 
shareholders’ equity 753,110 15,810 (4,371) 26,067 2,908 - (700) 27,594 16,783 26,489 (1) (2,289) 3,314 - - 864,714 
Net income (loss) for 
the year ended 
December 31, 2008, 
net of translation effects 95,219 (9,519) (5,392) (10,726) (10,343) - (348) 6,040 (21,497) (23,793) - (32,850) (13,697) - - (26,906)

Book value of investments:  : 
Balances as of 
December 31, 2008  691,999 5,835 1,206 14,193 3,552 - - 19,934 12,074 15,738 - 526 1,382 - - 766,439 
Equity in subsidiaries 95,911 (9,188) (4,567) (8,683) (7,289) - (348) 7,660 (17,891) (24,349) - (27,664) (12,717) - - (9,125)
Exchange rate change 
and other adjustments 
on translation of foreign 
investments - 992 (1,011) 4,847 105 - - - 3,711 1,027 - 3,630 263 - - 13,564
Dividends paid (34,800) - - - - - - - - - - - - - - (34,800)
Capital increase - 18,171 - 15,710 6,540 - - - 18,889 34,073 - 20,235 14,386 51 9 128,064

Balances as of 
December 31, 2008 753,110 15,810 (4,372) 26,067 2,908 - (348) 27,594 16,783 26,489 - (3,273) 3,314 51 9 864,142 

Allowance for losses:
Balances as of 
December 31, 2007 - - - - - (10,059) - - - - (1) - - - - (10,060)
Merger of Nova Flora 
Participações Ltda. - - - - - 10,059 (348) - - - - - - - - 9,711
Allowance for losses - - - - - - (352) - - - - - - - - (352)

- - - - - - (700) - - - (1) - - - - (701)

Saldos em 31 
de dezembro de 2008 753,110 15,810 (4,372) 26,067 2,908 - (700) 27,594 16,783 26,489 (1) (3,273) 3,314 51 9 863,441 

(*)Consolidated information on the following companies: 
Natura Cosméticos - México: Natura Cosmeticos y Servicios de Mexico; S.A. de C.V; Natura Cosmeticos de Mexico, S.A. de C.V; Natura Distribuidora de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. 
Natura Europa SAS - Natura Innovation et Technologie de Produits SAS - França; Natura Brasil SAS

(c) Refers to remittances to Flora Medicinal J. Monteiro da Silva Ltda. by Nova Flora Participações Ltda., a company merged into Natura Cosméticos S.A. on March 31,
2008, as mentioned in  note 1. 

(d) Payables for the purchase of products.

(e) Payables for services described in item (g). 

(f) Payables for services described in item (h). 

(g) General administrative and logistics services rendered. 

(h) Product and technological development and market research services rendered. 

(i) Research and “in vitro” testing services rendered. 

(j) Rental of part of the industrial complex located in the municipality of Cajamar (SP) and buildings located in the municipality of Itapecerica da Serra (SP). 

11. INVESTMENTS 
Company

2008 2007

Investments in subsidiaries 864,142 766,439
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  12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

Company

2008 2007
Annual depreciantion Adjusted for Accumulated Net book Adjusted for Accumulated Net book

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT rate - % inflation cost depreciation value inflation cost depreciation value

Vehicles 20 a 33 27,686 11,317 16,369 22,716 9,493 13,223
Leasehold improvements 20 a 33 9,726 3,860 5,866 9,263 2,115 7,148
Machinery and equipment 10 4,963 1,119 3,844 4,136 677 3,459
Furniture and fixtures 10 4,258 2,178 2,080 4,011 1,889 2,122
IT equipment 20 5,768 3,823 1,945 5,064 3,190 1,874
Property, plant and equipment in progress - 5,473 - 5,473 - - -
Advances to suppliers - 4,996 - 4,996 40 - 40

62,870 22,297 40,573 45,230 17,364 27,866

Company

2008 2007

Annual amortization Adjusted for Accumulated Net book Adjusted for Accumulated Net book
INTANGIBLE ASSETS rate - % inflation cost amortization value inflation cost amortization value

Softwares 20 12,215 5,915 6,300 10,856 4,308 6,548

Consolidated

2008 2007

Annual depreciantion Adjusted for Accumulated Net book Adjusted for Accumulated Net book
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT rate - % inflation cost depreciation value inflation cost depreciation value

Machinery and equipment 10 246,849 99,192 147,657 221,679 74,967 146,712
Buildings 4 144,685 41,727 102,958 144,685 36,018 108,667
Facilities 10 a 33 97,903 50,630 47,273 92,721 42,238 50,483
Land - 33,662 - 33,662 33,662 - 33,662
Molds 33 76,911 56,841 20,070 67,269 40,626 26,643
Vehicles 20 a 33 45,010 16,744 28,266 35,560 13,315 22,245
IT equipment 20 62,674 37,955 24,719 53,856 28,652 25,204
Furniture and fixtures 10 25,760 10,559 15,201 23,187 8,115 15,072
Leasehold improvements (b) 20 a 33 25 ,134 9,917 15,217 15,625 4,173 11,452
Property, plant and equipment in progress - 45,934 - 45,934 9,824 - 9,824
Advances to suppliers - 9,564 - 9,564 21,263 - 21,263
Other - 7,970 4,483 3,487 6,066 2,851 3,215

822,056 328,048 494,008 725,397 250,955 474,442

The increase recorded in property, plant and equipment in progress is distributed among several projects currently pursued by the Company and its subsidiaries 
initialed in 2008, such as enhancement of operating process, improvements of Distribution Centers and facilities renewals, among others. 
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The estimated aggregate amortization expense for the following years
is as follows: 

Amount

2009 14,559
2010 14,559
2011 14,300
2012 and thereafter 2,462

45,880

Changes in property, plant and equipment

Company Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007  

Balance at beginning of year 27,866 26,190 474,442 445,546 

Additions: 
Leasehold improvements 459 1,390 2,607 2,887 
Machinery and equipment 502 348 19,500 28,477 
Property, plant and equipment 
in progress/ advances to suppliers 10,215 2,984 27,451 13,292 

Vehicles 11,759 9,648 19,072 14,739 
Molds - - 10,158 21,004 
Facilities - - 5,515 7,950 
IT equipment 665 403 5,389 8,013 
Furniture and fixtures 284 648 2,414 4,615 
Other - - 10,441 9,740

Total 23,884 15,421 102,547 110,717 
(-) Write-offs, net (3,277) (6,820) (3,731) (18,384)
(-) Depreciation (7,900) (6,925) (79,250) (63,437)

Balance at end of year 40,573 27,866 494,008 474,442 

Changes in intangible assets 
Company Consolidated 

2008 2007 2008 2007  
Balance at beginning of year 6,548 3,550 63,817 51,389  

Additions:
Business lease - Natura Europa SAS - - - - 
Softwares 1,544 981 7,593 13,414 
Trademarks and patents - - - - 
Intangible assets under development - 3,614 - 11,924 
Total 1,544 4,595 7,593 25,338 
(-) Write-offs, net (128) - (8,440) - 
(-) Amortization (1,664) (1,597) (10,358) (12,910)
Balance at end of year 6,300 6,548 52,612 63,817  

13. DEFERRED CHARGES

On March 5, 2004, Natura Participações S.A. was merged into the
Company. Natura Participações S.A. had recorded goodwill on the in-
vestment held in the then subsidiary  Natura Empreendimentos S.A.,
amounting to R$1,028,041, and a corresponding provision to maintain
payment capacity for future dividends in the same amount. This good-
will arose from the merger of the shares of Natura Empreendimentos
S.A. into Natura Participações S.A. on December 27, 2000. This merger
was approved by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on that
date and amounts are supported by a valuation report issued by inde-
pendent appraisers:

The amounts are as follows:
Company

2008 2007  
Goodwill on investments 318,203 465,066 
Provision to maintain payment capacity 
for future dividends (318,203)(465,066)

- -

As the provision to maintain payment capacity for future dividends cov-
ers the full amount, all of the Company’s shareholders will receive tax
benefits related to the amortization of goodwill. Goodwill is being amor-
tized over a seven-year period, starting as of March 2004. Moreover,
R$146,863 was amortized in the year ended December 31, 2008.

Consolidated

2008 2007

Annual amortization Adjusted for Accumulated Net book Adjusted for Accumulated Net book
INTANGIBLE ASSETS rate - % inflation cost amortization value inflation cost amortization value

Business lease - Natura Europa SAS (a) - 6,732 - 6,732 5,420 - 5,420
Softwares 20 84,669 39,475 45,194 82,893 25,231 57,662
Trademarks and patents 10 a 25 2,233 1,547 686 1,967 1,232 735

93,634 41,022 52,612 90,280 26,463 63,817

(a) The business lease generated on the purchase of a commercial location where Natura Europa SAS operates is supported by an appraisal report is-
sued by independent appraisers because it is an intangible, marketable asset that does not suffer any decrease in value over time. The change in the bal-
ance between December 31, 2007 and 2008 is basically due to the effects of exchange rate changes.  

(b) Amortization rates consider the property lease agreement terms, which range from three to five years. 
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 14. LOANS AND FINANCING 

Company Consolidated
Type 2008 2007 2008 2007 Maturity Charges Guarante
BNDES - EXIM (1) - - 136,962 110,175 February 2009, Interest of 2.57% p.a. + TJLP (b) for 80% Guarantee of Natura .

January 2010, of the financing and interest of 9.76% p.a.  Cosméticos S.A.
May 2010 and + exchange rate change (dollar) for 20% 
February 2011 of the financing maturing in February 2009.

Interest of 2.39% p.a. + TJLP (b) for 80% of 
debt and interest of 8.44% p.a. + exchange
rate change for 20% of debt maturing in 
January 2010 Interest of 2.60% p.a. + TJLP (b)
for 80% of debt and interest of 8.98% p.a. + 
exchange rate change for 20% of debt 
maturing in May 2010 Interest of 2.43% p.a. + 
TJLP (b) for 80% of debt and interest of 8.31% 
p.a. + exchange rate change for 20% of debt 
maturing in February 2011 

Resolution No. 2,770 (a) 154,384 88,484 154,384 88,484 January 2010 Exchange rate change + 2.11 % p.a. Guarantee of Indústria e Comércio 
de Cosméticos Natura Ltda.

Compror (buyer financing) - 118,482 - 137,677 January 2008 Interest of 102.8% of CDI (c) Guarantee of Natura Cosméticos S.A..
Export notes (NCE)  - - 41,190 April 2008 Interest of 104% of CDI (c) Promissory note and guarantee of 

Natura Cosméticos S.A.
FINEP (Financing Agency  - - 50,156 51,915 March 2013 TJLP (b) maturing in March 2013 Guarantee of Natura Cosméticos 
for Studies and Projects) S.A. and bank guarantee
Agro-industry Credit Note - - 54,173 48,787 April and June Interest of 100.6% of CDI (c) + IOF (d) Guarantee of Natura .

2009 and TR (e) + 8.66% p.a. + IOF (d) Cosméticos S.A
BNDES  (Brazilian 28,881 30,666 39,792 45,543 April de 2010 Interest of 4.5% p.a. + TJLP (b) + Mortgage (g) 
Bank for Economic and July 2014 UMBNDES (f) for maturity in April 2010  
and Social For financing maturing in July 2014:  Bank guarantee 
Development Fund) (i) TJLP (b) + interest of 2.8% p.a. for 85%  

of financing; (ii) exchange rate change (dollar) 
+ interest of 8.54% p.a. for 9% of financing; 
and (iii) TJLP (b) + interest of 2.3% p.a.
for 6% of financing.

BNDES – FINAME - - 11,126 14,246 September Interest of 4.5% p.a. + TJLP (b) Chattel mortgage, guarantee of 
(Government Agency for de 2012 Natura Cosméticos S.A. and 
Machinery and Equipment promissory notes 
Financing)

International transaction Peru - - 23,049 - May 2009 Interest of 8.56% p.a. Bank guarantee 
Banco do Brasil -  

FAT Fomentar Chattel mortgage, guarantee of
(Workers Assistance Fund) - - 5,890 6,682 February 2014 Interest of 4.4% p.a. + TJLP (b). Natura Cosméticos S.A. and 

promissory notes .

Capital lease - - 3,880 4,252 Until September Interest of 99.5% to 102.99% of CDI (h) CETIP h
2012

FINEP - grant - - 618 January 2011 None None
Total 183,265 237,632 480,30 548,951

Current 5,293 120,785 190,550 288,959
Noncurrent 177,972 116,847 289,480 259,992

(a) Loans and financing for which swap contracts (CDI) were entered into. 
(b) TJLP: long-term interest rate. 
(c) CDI: interbank deposit rate. 
(d) IOF: tax on financial transactions. 
(e) TR: managed prime rate. 
(f) UMBNDES: Brazilian Bank for Economic and Social Development Fund (BNDES) monetary unit. Local currency financing from the BNDES are collateralized by
the Cajamar unit. 
(g) Mortgages: relate to real estate of the Cajamar unit. 
(h) DI-CETIP: daily index calculated based on the average DI, disclosed by the Clearinghouse for the Custody and Financial Settlement of Securities (CETIP) - average “DI” rate.

Maturities of noncurrent portions are as follows: 
2008 2007

2009 - 100,831
2010 225,226 109,583
2011 29,837 18,541
2012 20,384 17,543
2013 10,351 9,754
2014 3,682 3,740

289,480 259,992
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15.  TAXES PAYABLE

Company Consolidated 
2008 2007 2008 2007

ICMS (State VAT) Company and ST (b) 108,738 109,959 164,774 109,892 
PIS/COFINS (taxes on revenue) 
(injunction) (a) 1,268 2,061 33,365 14,060 

IRPJ (corporate income tax) 9,155 8,439 17,483 10,478 
CSLL (social contribution on net profit) 3,907 3,794 5,771 4,534 
IRRF (withholding income tax) 5,269 3,863 8,861 7,335 
PIS/COFINS and CSLL (Law No. 10,833/03) 2,842 3,696 3,821 4,784 
COFINS 127 119 3,229 4,458 
Taxes - foreign operations - - 5,072 5,313 
IPI (Federal VAT) - - 903 2,285 
ISS (tax on services) 217 214 1,077 983 
PIS 29 26 637 947 
Other - - - 472 

131,552 132,171 244,993 165,541 

(-) Escrow deposits (b) (67,191) (47,030) (67,191) (47,030)

Total taxes payable, net of escrow 
deposits 64,361 85,141 177,802 118,511 

(a) The Company and its subsidiary Indústria e Comércio de Cosméticos
Natura Ltda. are challenging in court the noninclusion of ICMS in the PIS and
COFINS tax bases. In June 2007, the Company and its subsidiary were au-
thorized by the court to pay PIS and COFINS without the inclusion of ICMS
in the tax bases, starting April 2007. The reserve recognized as of December
31, 2008 refers to the unpaid amounts of PIS and COFINS from April 2007 to
September 2008, adjusted for inflation based on the SELIC (Central Bank
overnight rate). 

(b) From theses balances, the amount of R$67,191 as of December 31, 2008
(R$47,030 as of December 31, 2007), Company and consolidated, refers to
the ICMS - ST for the State of Paraná, which is being challenged in court, as also
mentioned in note 16.(a) “Contingent liabilities - possible losses”. The Com-
pany has made monthly escrow deposits for the unpaid amounts. 

16. RESERVE FOR TAX, CIVIL AND LABOR CONTINGENCIES  

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to certain tax, labor and
civil lawsuits and to tax proceedings at the administrative level. Based
on the opinion and judgments of its internal and outside legal counsel,
Management believes that the reserve for tax, civil and labor contin-
gencies is sufficient to cover eventual losses. The reserve, net of escrow
deposits, are as follows:

Company Consolidated 

2008 2007 2008 2007

Tax 23,069 23,054 37,712 40,312
Civil 21,212 5,429 22,300 17,903
Labor 5,102 4,787 6,923 6,226

49,383 33,270 66,935 64,441

Current 15,791 - 15,791 13,420
Noncurent 33,592 33,270 51,144 51,021

TAX CONTINGENCIES 

The reserve for tax contingencies relates to the following lawsuits: 

Company

2007 Additions Reversals Payments Adjustment 2008
for inflation

Deductibility of CSLL 
(Law No. 9,316/96) (c) 6,670 - - - 337 7,007
Late-payment fines on 

federal taxes in 
arrears (b) 6,065 - (2,348) - 786 4,503

Adjustment for inflation of 
federal taxes using the 

UFIR (IRPJ/CSLL/ILL) (d) 5,001 - - - 76 5,077
IPI - tax collection lawsuit (g) 4,423 - - - 285 4,708
INSS debt annulment 

action (h) 3,862 - - - 251 4,113
Tax notification - 

IRPJ-1990 (j) 2,862 - - - 181 3,043
Tax notification - 

IRPJ and CSLL - 
attorneys’ fees (i) 2,860 - - - 87 2,947

Attorneys’ fees and others 6,607 16 (11) - 1,255 7,867

Total reserve for 
tax contingencies 38,350 16 (2,359) - 3,258 39,265

Escrow deposits (15,296) - - - (900) (16,196)

Total reserve for tax 
contingencies net of 
escrow deposits 23,054 16 (2,359) - 2,358 23,069

Consolidated
2007 Additions Reversals Payments Adjustment 2008

for inflation
IPI (Federal VAT) 

zero rate (a) 31,034 - - - 3,158 34,192
Late-payment fines on 

federal taxes in arrears (b) 7,207 1,176 (3,024) - 884 6,243
Deductibility of CSLL 

(Law No. 9,316/96) (c) 6,670 - - - 337 7,007
Adjustment for inflation of 

federal taxes using the 
UFIR (IRPJ/CSLL/ILL) (d) 5,127 - - - 76 5,203

Tax notification IPI - 
attorneys’ fees (e) 4,792 - (4,846) - 54 -

IPI credit on purchases 
of fixed asset and 
consumption material (f) 4,433 - - - 289 4,722

IPI - tax collection lawsuit (g) 4,423 - - - 285 4,708
INSS debt annulment 

action (h) 3,862 - - - 251 4,113
Tax notification - IRPJ 

and CSLL - 
attorneys’ fees (i) 2,866 - - - 94 2,960

Tax notification - 
IRPJ-1990 (j) 2,862 - - - 181 3,043

Failure to include ICMS 
in tax bases for PIS 
and COFINS - 
attorneys’ fees (k) 2,291 10 (33) - 185 2,453

Semiannual PIS - Decree 
Laws No. 2,445/88 and 
No. 2,449/88 (l) 1,836 - - - 134 1,970

Attorneys’ fees and other 10,517 6 (80) - 2,400 12,843
Total reserve for tax 

contingencies 87,920 1,192 (7,983) - 8,328 89,457
Escrow deposits (47,608) - - - (4,137) (51,745)
Total reserve for tax 

contingencies net 
of escrow deposits 40,312 1,192 (7,983) - 4,191  37,712

(a) Refers to IPI tax credits on raw materials and packaging materials purchased
at a zero tax rate or with a tax exemption. The subsidiary Indústria e Comér-
cio de Cosméticos Natura Ltda. filed for and obtained an injunction granting en-
titlement to the credit. A sentence dismissing the injunction and judging the
Company’s request invalid was rendered on September 25, 2006. The Company
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filed an appeal for review of the merit and reestablishment of the injunction’s ef-
fects. To suspend payment of the tax, the Company made escrow deposits for the
disputed amount in October 2006. The total amount deposited in escrow, ad-
justed as of December 31, 2008, is R$34,192 (R$31,034 as of December 31, 2007).  

(b) Refers to fine levied for late payment of federal taxes. The reserves reversed
in December 2008 are the result of the current understanding of the Superior
Court of Justice (STJ) set forth in Abstract No. 360. 

(c) Refers to CSLL that was addressed by a mandate that questions the con-
stitutionality of Law No. 9,316/96, which prohibited the deduction of CSLL
from its own and income tax bases. A portion of this reserve, in the amount of
R$4,962 (R$4,601 as of December 31, 2007), has been deposited in escrow.  

(d) Refers to the adjustment for inflation of federal taxes (IRPJ/CSLL/ILL) related
to 1991 using the UFIR (fiscal reference unit), discussed in a mandate. The
amount involved is deposited in escrow. 

(e) Refers to attorneys’ fees to defend tax notifications issued against the sub-
sidiary Indústria e Comércio de Cosméticos Natura Ltda. by the Brazilian Fed-
eral Revenue Service in November 2005, which challenges the tax base for IPI
on transactions with related companies. The subsidiary was notified of the lower
court decisions issued by the Second Judgment Panel of the Federal Revenue’s
Regional Office in Ribeirão Preto in June 2006, which unanimously cancelled tax
requirements related to IPI on these transactions. The appeal filed by the Treas-
ury was denied by unanimous vote, which upheld the original decision that can-
celled the tax requirement, on August 15, 2007. Awaiting formalization and
publication of the decision. On December 18, 2007, the subsidiary Indústria e
Comércio de Cosméticos Natura Ltda. was notified of the decision that denied
the appeal related to one of the tax notifications, which was then discontinued.  

(f) The subsidiary Indústria e Comércio de Cosméticos Natura Ltda. is chal-
lenging through injunctions the right to an IPI credit on purchases of fixed as-
sets and consumption materials..

(g) Refers to a tax collection lawsuit intended to collect IPI for July 1989, when
wholesale establishments began to be considered equivalent to industrial es-
tablishments under Law No. 7,798/89. The lawsuit is in the 3rd Region Federal
Court (São Paulo) for judgment of the appeal filed by the debtor. The amounts
involved in this tax collection lawsuit are collateralized by a restricted investment
held by the subsidiary Natura Inovação e Tecnologia de Produtos Ltda., in the
amount of R$5,250 as of December 31, 2008 (R$4,848 as of December 31,
2007), which is recorded in a specific account in noncurrent assets. 

(h) Refers to social security contribution (INSS) required by tax notifications is-
sued by the National Institute of Social Security as a result of an audit. The
Company, as taxpayer with joint liability for tax payment, is required to pay INSS
on services provided by third parties. These amounts are disputed in a tax debt
annulment action and they are deposited in escrow. The amounts required in
the tax notification cover the period from January 1990 to October 1999. In
2007, the Company reversed the amount of R$1,903, relating to the expiration
of part of the amount involved in the lawsuit for the period from January 1990
to October 1994, according to binding precedent No. 08 of the Federal
Supreme Court (STF). 

(i) Refers to attorneys’ fees for defense of tax notifications issued against the
Company by the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service in August 2003, December
2006 and December 2007, which require the payment of income tax and so-
cial contribution (IRPJ and CSLL) related to the deductibility of the yield of the
debentures issued by the Company in 1999, 2001 and 2002. It is attorneys’
opinion that the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome is remote. 

(j) Refers to a tax notification issued by the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service
requiring payment of income tax on profit from incentive-based exports made
in base year 1989 at the rate of 18% (Law No. 7,988, of December 29, 1989)
and not 3% as established by article 1 of Decree No. 2,413/88, on which the
Company based its tax payments at that time. 

(k) Refers to attorneys’ fees for filing and dealing with the administrative pro-
ceeding that requested a refund of ICMS included in the PIS and COFINS bases
in the period from April 2002 to March 2007. The attorneys have assessed the
risk of loss as remote. 

(l) Refers to the offset of PIS paid in the period from 1988 to 1995 against
Federal taxes due in 2003 and 2004 as permitted by Decree Laws No. 2,445/88
and No. 2,449/88. The reversal made by the Company in 2007 in the amount
of R$14,910 is due to the final decision favorable to the Company, rendered in
August 2007. The remaining reserve refers to the subsidiary Indústria e Comér-
cio de Cosméticos Natura Ltda., which is awaiting the examination of pro-
ceedings by the Board of Tax Appeals. 

CIVIL CONTINGENCIES

Changes in the reserve for civil contingencies for the year ended December
31, 2008 are as follows:

Company
2007 Additions Reversals Payments Adjustment 2008

for inflation

Various civil lawsuits (a) 5,146 4,044 (5,259) (848) 1,439 4,522
Attorneys’ fees - 

environmental 
civil  lawsuit (d) - 1,013 - - 28 1,041

Civil lawsuits and 
attorneys’ fees - Nova 
Flora Participações 
Ltda. (b) and (c) 485 14,821 (11) - 560 15,855

Total reserve for 
civil contingencies 5,631 19,878 (5,270) (848) 2,027 21,418

Civil lawsuit escrow 
deposits (202) - - - (4) (206)

Total reserve for civil 
contingencies, net of 
escrow deposits 5,429 19,878 (5,270) (848) 2,023 21,212

Current - 15,791
Noncurrent 5,429      - - - - 5,421

Consolidated
2007 Additions Reversals Payments Adjustment 2008

for inflation

Various civil lawsuits (a) 5,456 4,738 (5,622) (1,005) 1,418 4,985
Attorneys’ fees - 

environmental 
civil  lawsuit (d) - 1,013 - - 28 1,041

Civil lawsuits and 
attorneys’ fees - Nova 
Flora Participações 
Ltda. (b) and (c) 15,649 14,421 (14,432) - 2,304 17,942

Total reserve for 
civil contingencies 21,105 20,172 (20,054) (1,005) 3,750 23,968

Civil lawsuit escrow 
deposits (3,202) (86) 1,754 - (134) (1,668)

Total reserve for civil 
contingencies, net of 
escrow deposits 17,903 20,086 (18,300) (1,005) 3,616 22,300

Current 13,420 - - - - 15,791
Noncurrent 4,483 - - - - 6,509

(a) As of December 31, 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries were parties
in 1,148 lawsuits and proceedings (1,587 as of December 31, 2007) in the  civil
courts, special civil court and PROCON (consumer protection agency), filed by
Natura beauty consultants, consumers, suppliers and former employees, mostly
related to compensation claims. 

(b) The Company is a party in civil lawsuits filed by a former shareholder of the
subsidiary Flora Medicinal J. Monteiro da Silva Ltda., which seek amounts and
settlement of liabilities allegedly owed as a result of the former shareholder’s
withdrawal. In November 2007, the Court of Justice of Rio de Janeiro judged
the appeals filed against the decision issued by the lower court, setting the
amount of the liabilities. The decision issued by the Court of Justice of Rio de
Janeiro was challenged in a motion for clarification denied in January 2008, when
the Company filed a special appeal. 

(c) Beginning March 31, 2008 and after the merger of Nova Flora Participações
Ltda., the Company became liable for the civil lawsuits of the former subsidiary.
The Company is a party in other three civil lawsuits filed by a former share-
holder of Flora Medicinal J. Monteiro da Silva Ltda., the nature and likelihood of
a favorable outcome for which are described below: 

• Lawsuit for arbitration of capital reimbursement: lawsuit in which the former
shareholder alleges being entitled to amounts resulting from his withdrawal
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from the Company. In January 2008, the former shareholder filed with the Su-
perior Court of Justice a special appeal against the decision issued by the Court
of Justice of Rio de Janeiro, which upheld the lower court’s decision and denied
the former shareholder’s claim. The amounts involved cannot be reliably meas-
ured. The attorneys are of the opinion that the likelihood of an unfavorable
outcome is remote. 

• Lawsuit for collection of business plan: lawsuit in which the former share-
holder alleges being entitled to receivables resulting from his withdrawal from
the Company. The court expert’s work started in March 2008. The São Paulo
Court District is responsible for this lawsuit. The amounts involved cannot be
reliably measured. The attorneys are of the opinion that the likelihood of an
unfavorable outcome is remote. 

• Lawsuit for payment allocation: refers to ICMS credits deposited by the for-
mer shareholder on account of tax payment in installment as agreed to by Flora
Medicinal J. Monteiro da Silva Ltda. Judgment by the Superior Court of Justice
of the bill of review filed by the former shareholder against the decision that re-
jected his special appeal has been awaited since September 2007. The Court
of Justice of Rio de Janeiro overruled the lower court’s decision and denied
the claim made by the former shareholder. The attorneys are of the opinion that
an unfavorable outcome is possible.  

(d) Refers to attorneys’ fees for the defense of the Company’s interests in the
public lawsuit filed by the Federal Public Prosecution Office of the State of Acre
against the Company and other institutions for alleged access to the traditional
knowledge associated to the asset denominated “murumuru” (“Astrocaryum
murumuru Mart”.) .

LABOR CONTINGENCIES

As of December 31, 2008, the Company and its subsidiaries are parties
to 685 labor lawsuits filed by former employees and third parties (588
as of December 31, 2007) claiming the payment of severance amounts,
salary premiums, overtime and other amounts due, as a result of joint
liability. Reserves are periodically reviewed to reflect the best current es-
timate based on the progress of lawsuits and history of losses on labor
claims. 
Changes in the reserve for labor contingencies for the year ended De-
cember 31, 2008 are as follows: 

Company
2007 Additions Reversals Payments Adjustment 2008

for inflation

Total reserve for labor 
contingencies 5,604 148 (712) (54) 1,454 6,440

Escrow deposits for 
labor lawsuits (817) (521) - - - (1,338)

Total reserve for labor 
contingencies, net 
of escrow deposits 4,787 (373) (712) (54) 1,454 5,102

Consolidated
2007 Additions Reversals Payments Adjustment 2008

for inflation

Total reserve for labor 
contingencies 7,323 152 (767) (54) 1,904 8,558

Escrow deposits for 
labor lawsuits (1,097) (538) - - - (1,635)

Total reserve for labor 
contingencies, net 
of escrow deposits 6,226 (386) (767) (54) 1,904 6,923

Escrow deposits 

Escrow deposits, which represent the Company’s and its subsidiaries’
restricted assets, relate to amounts deposited before the courts until lit-
igation is resolved. Balances of escrow deposits for which there are no
recognized reserve for contingencies totaled R$37,187 - Company and
R$41,017 - consolidated as of December 31, 2008 (R$35,119 and
R$38,603, respectively, as of December 31, 2007) and the same are
classified in caption “Escrow deposits” in noncurrent assets. 

Contingent liabilities - possible losses 

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to tax, civil and labor law-
suits, for which no reserve for losses has been recognized, as the risk
of loss is regarded as possible by Management and its internal and out-
side legal counsel. These tax liabilities are as follows:

Company Consolidated
2008 2007 2008 2007

Tax
Declaratory Action - ICMS - 
ST of State of Paraná (a) 14,670 10,715 14,670 10,715

Declaratory Action - ICMS - 
ST of State of Santa Catarina (c)  - 9,965 - 9,965

Offset of 1/3 of COFINS - 
Law No. 9,718/98 (b) 4,713 4,466 4,713 4,466

INSS debt annulment action (c) 4,235 3,976 4,235 3,976
Tax notification - transfer pricing on 
loan agreements with foreign 
related company (d) 1,127 1,047 1,127 1,047

Tax debt notification - GFIP (e) 825 718 825 718
Tax notification - ICMS - ST (f) 703 593 703 593
Request for offset of taxes of the same
type - IRPJ (corporate income tax) 
and IRRF (withholding income tax) (g) 490 450 490 450

Tax notification - IRPJ and CSLL - 
debentures (h) 11,949 - 11,949 -

Other 19,360 2,602 21,943 4,797
58,072 34,532 60,655 36,727 

Civil 5,666 6,077 18,351 18,283
Labor 34,044 30,927 51,647 46,115

97,782 71,536 130,653 101,125 

(a) Lawsuit filed by the Company challenging the changes in ICMS - ST calcu-
lation basis introduced by Paraná Decree No. 7,018/06. The total discussed in
the lawsuit, related to the period from January 2007 to December 2008, is fully
deposited in escrow, as mentioned in note 15.  

(b) Law No. 9,718/98 increased the COFINS rate from 2% to 3%, and allowed
this 1% difference to be offset in 1999 against the social contribution payable
in the same year. However, in 1999 the Company and its subsidiaries filed a
mandate and were granted an injunction suspending the payment of the tax
credit (1% rate difference) and to pay COFINS based on Supplementary Law
No. 70/91, prevailing at that time. In December 2000, considering former un-
favorable court decisions, the Company and its subsidiaries enrolled in the tax
debt refinancing program (REFIS), for payment in installments of the debt re-
lated to the COFINS not paid in the period. With the payment of the tax, the
Company and its subsidiaries gained the right to offset 1% of COFINS against
social contribution, which was made in the first half of 2001. However, the Brazil-
ian Federal Revenue Service understands that the period for offset was re-
stricted to base year 1999. On September 11, 2006, the Company was notified
that the offsets made were not approved, and timely filed the applicable appeal.
This proceeding is awaiting ruling at the lower administrative court. 

(c) Lawsuit filed by the Company seeking the annulment of the tax demanded
by the INSS through a tax notification issued for purposes of collecting the so-
cial security contribution on the allowance for vehicle maintenance paid to sales
promoters. The amounts are discussed in the tax debt annulment action and are
deposited in escrow. The amounts required in the tax notification cover the
period from January 1995 to October 1999.  

(d) Refers to a tax notification whereby the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service
is demanding the payment of IRPJ and CSLL on the difference of interest on
loan agreements with a foreign related party. On July 12, 2004, an administra-
tive defense was filed and subsequently dismissed. In June 2008, the Company
filed an appeal against the unfavorable decision with the Board of Tax Appeals,
which is awaiting ruling by this judgment body. 

(e) Demand of fine for failure to complete the GFIP (FGTS Payment and So-
cial Security Information Form), an accessory social security obligation, with in-
dependent contractors’ social security contributions and indemnities. The
Company is discussing this collection at the administrative level.  

(f) Tax collection notice for ICMS - ST, demanded by the State of Goiás, due to
alleged underpayment by the Company. The Company has filed its defense at
the administrative level and is awaiting judgment. 
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(g) Refers to the nonapproval of the offset of IRPJ credits related to the fourth
quarter of 1999 against IRRF debts for the second quarter of 2000. The Com-
pany filed its defense at the administrative level, for which a partially favorable
judgment has been rendered.  On July 12, 2006, an annulment action was filed,
and an escrow deposit was made, to challenge collection of the balance of off-
set not approved by the Brazilian Federal Revenue Service. 

(h) Tax notification issued against the Company in August 2003 whereby the
Brazilian Federal Revenue Service is requiring the income tax and social con-
tribution due on the yield of the debentures issued by the Company in base
period 1999.  

Contingent assets 

The Company and its subsidiaries have the following significant contin-
gent assets: 

a) The Company and its subsidiary Indústria e Comércio de Cosméti-
cos Natura Ltda. are challenging in court the constitutionality and le-
gality of the increase in the tax basis for the PIS and COFINS established
by Law No. 9,718/98. The amounts involved in the lawsuits, adjusted for
inflation through December 31, 2008, total R$19,170 (R$18,111 as of
December 31, 2007). The lawsuits are awaiting judgment. The attorneys’
opinion is that the likelihood of a favorable outcome is probable.  

b) The Company and its subsidiaries Indústria e Comércio de Cos-
méticos Natura Ltda., Natura Inovação e Tecnologia de Produtos Ltda.
and Natura Logística e Serviços Ltda. are requesting at the administra-
tive level the refund of the ICMS included in the PIS and COFINS basis
and paid in the period from April 2002 to March 2007. The amounts in-
volved, adjusted for inflation through December 31, 2008, total
R$112,534 (R$103,025 as of December 31, 2007). The attorneys’ opin-
ion is that the likelihood of a favorable outcome is probable. 

As a final and unappealable decision has not been rendered, the Com-
pany and its subsidiaries have not recorded the contingent assets, as
established by CVM Resolution No. 489/05. 

17. MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEE PROFIT SHARING 

The Company and its subsidiaries pay profit sharing to their employees
and officers, tied to the achievement of operational targets and specific
objectives, established and approved at the beginning of each year. As
of December 31, 2008, the following amounts were recorded as profit
sharing: R$25,539 (R$12,556 as of December 31, 2007) and R$64,158
(R$35,827 as of December 31, 2007), Company and consolidated, re-
spectively, under the caption “Salaries, profit sharing and related
charges”, as a contra entry to “Employee profit sharing” and “Manage-
ment compensation” in the statement of income for these years. .

18. MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

a) The total compensation of the Board of Directors and Officers of the
Company is as follows: :

2008
Stock option grants

Compensation Stock option Average
Variable balance (quantity) exercise price

Fixed (a)   Total (b)         (c) 

Board of Directors 2,636 1,332 3,968 - -
Officerss 3,263 2,856 6,119 391,827 19,58
Total 5,899 4,188 10,087 391,827

2007
Stock option grant

Compensation Stock option Average
Variable balance (quantity) exercise price

Fixed (a)   Total (b)         (c)  
Board of Directors 2,498 (1,049) 1,449 - -
Officers 3,598 1,367 4,965 532,654 21,57

Total 6,096 318 6,414 532,654

b) The compensation of the Executives of the Company and its sub-
sidiaries is as follows:

2008
Stock option grant

Compensation Stock option Average
Variable balance (quantity) exercise price

Fixed (a)   Total (b)         (c)  

Executives 7,563 4,012 11,575 717,656 16,89

2007
Stock option grant

Compensation Stock option Average
Variable balance (quantity) exercise price

Fixed (a)   Total (b)         (c) 

Executives 14,873 4,034 18,907 2,702,650 16,78

(a)Refers to the profit sharing recorded in the statement of income for the
years, The amounts include any additions and/or reversals to the provision
recorded in the previous year in view of the final assessment of the targets es-
tablished for the Board Members, Officers and Executives. 

(b) Refers to the balance of unexercised vested and unvested options as of
the balance sheet date. 

(c) Refers to the weighted-average exercise price of the option at the time of
the stock option plans, adjusted for inflation based on the Extended Consumer
Price Index (IPC-A) through the balance sheet date. 

19. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

a) Capital

As of December 31, 2007, the Company’s capital was R$390,618. On
March 7, 2008, 100,000 common shares without par value were sub-
scribed for R$3.30 (R$330). On December 31, 2008, 55,698 common
shares without par value were subscribed for an average price of
R$8.52 (R$475). As a result, capital increased from R$390,618, corre-
sponding to 428,929,051 subscribed and paid-up common shares, as of
December 31, 2007, to R$391,423, corresponding to 429,084,749 sub-
scribed and paid-up common shares. Authorized capital of 12,381,074
common shares remained unchanged.

b) Dividend and interest on capital payment policy 

Each year, the shareholders are entitled to a mandatory minimum
dividend of 30% of net income, considering principally the following
adjustments: 



23

• Increase in the amounts arising from the reversal, in the year, of pre-
viously recognized reserves for contingencies. 

• Decrease in the amounts intended for the recognition, in the year, of
the legal reserve and reserve for contingencies. 

The bylaws allow the Company to prepare semiannual and interim bal-
ance sheets and, based on these balance sheets, authorize the payment
of interim dividends upon approval by the Board of Directors. 

On August 10, 2007, the Company paid dividends and interest on cap-
ital in the amounts of R$138,138 and R$39,247, respectively, relating to
income for the first quarter of 2007, as approved by the Board of Di-
rectors on July 25, 2007, and, on April 8, 2008, the Company paid divi-
dends and interest on capital in the amount of R$237,752, relating to
the remaining balance for 2007, as approved at the Annual Sharehold-
ers’ Meeting held on March 31, 2008, totaling R$375,890. 

On August 12, 2008, the Company paid dividends in the amount of
R$188,000, relating to income for the first half of 2008, as approved by
the Board of Directors on July 23, 2008, subject to approval at the An-
nual Shareholders’ Meeting that will appreciate the financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2008. 

In addition, on February 18, 2009, the Board of Directors appreciated a
proposal to be submitted to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting to be held
on March 31, 2009, for the payment of dividends and interest on capital
- gross, related to income for 2008, in the total amounts of R$254,215
and R$57,465, respectively, which, together with the R$188,000 paid in
August 2008, correspond to 95.4% of net income for 2008. 

Dividends were calculated as follows:
Company

2008 2007
Net income for the year (*) 525,781 456,914 
Tax incentive reserve - investment grant (1,816) - 
Calculation basis for minimum dividends 523,965 456,914 
Mandatory minimum dividends 30% 30% 
Annual minimum dividend 157,190 137,074 
Proposed dividends 442,215 375,890 
Interest on capital 57,465 39,247 
IRRF on interest on capital (8,620) (5,887)
Total dividends and interest on capital, 
net of IRRF 491,060 409,250 

Amount exceeding the mandatory 
minimum dividend 333,870 272,176 

Dividends per share - R$ 1,0316 0,8767 
Interest on capital per share - net - R$ 0,1138 0,0778 
Total dividends and interest on capital 
per share - net - R$ 1,1454 0,9545 

(*) In 2007, calculated pursuant to accounting practices set forth by Law 
No. 6,404/76.

c) Treasury shares

As of December 31, 2008, the common shares held in treasury, which
have been used in the exercise of options related to stock option plans
for purchase or subscription of shares, totaled 20,955 (161,303 as of
December 31, 2007), at an average unit price of R$17.5426 (R$13.6705
as of December 31, 2007). The decrease in the number of treasury
shares in comparison to December 2007 is explained by the 801,338
options exercised under the stock option plans. .

d) Share premium 

Refers to the premium generated on the issuance of 3,299 common
shares resulting from the capitalization of debentures in the amount of
R$100,000, which was carried out on March 2, 2004.

e) Legal reserve 

Since the balance of the legal reserve plus the capital reserves provided
for by article 182, paragraph 1, of Law No. 6,404/76 exceeded 30% of
capital, the Company, pursuant to the provisions of article 193 of said
law, decided not to recognize a legal reserve on net income earned in
2006, 2007 and 2008. 

f) Profit retention reserve 

As of December 31, 2008, the profit retention reserve was recognized
pursuant to article 196 of Law No. 6,404/76, for use in future invest-
ments, in the amount of R$24,285. The retention related to 2008 is
based on the capital budget that will be submitted for approval at the
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting to be held on March 23, 2009. 

As prescribed by article 199 of Law No. 6,404/76, the balance of profit
reserves, except for the reserve for contingencies and unrealized profit
reserve, cannot exceed capital. Therefore, at the Extraordinary Share-
holders’ Meeting held on April 2, 2007, the capitalization in the amount
of R$153,939 was approved, referring to the profit reserves recognized
in the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, which were fully uti-
lized for investments in property, plant and equipment and working cap-
ital during 2005 and 2006. 

20. STOCK OPTION PLANS

Once a year the Board of Directors meets for the purpose of naming
the directors and managers who will receive the options and the total
number to be distributed, in compliance with the terms of the plan. 

The plans have a four-year time span for exercising the options, and the
exercise rights are 50% at the end of the third year and 50% at the end
of the fourth year. The maximum term for exercising the options is two
years after the end of the fourth eligibility year. 

The changes in the number of outstanding stock options and their re-
lated weighted-average prices in the year are as follows: 

2008 2007

Average Options Average Options
exercise price (thousands) exercise price (thousands)
per share - R$ per share - R$

As of January 1 15.46 5,476 9.89 6,701
Granted 19.33 1,800 23.64 1,305
Cancelled 16.77 (1,077) 19.64 (297)
Exercised 18.33 (1,466) 21.66 (2,253)

As of December 31 19.24 4,733 15.46 5,456

Of the 4,733,000 outstanding options as of December 31, 2008 
(5,456,000 options in 2007), 1,276,000 (1,815,000 in 2007) are 
exercisable. 

The options exercised in 2008 resulted in the issuance of 1,466,000
shares (2,253,000 shares in 2007), generating an impact on sharehold-
ers’ equity of R$5,956 (2,253,000 shares in 2007, generating an impact
on shareholders’ equity of R$9,145), Company. 

The expense related to the fair value of options granted, recognized in
the statement of income for the years ended December 31, 2008 and
2007 according to the elapsed vesting period, was R$2,055 and
R$3,405, respectively, Company, and R$5,088 and R$7,399, respectively,
consolidated. 

The outstanding stock options at the end of the year have the follow-
ing vesting dates and exercise prices: 
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As of December 31, 2008:

Outstanding options Exercisable options

Remaining
Exercise Outstanding contract life Exercise Exercisable Exercise

Gran date price - R$ options (in years) price - R$ options price - R$ 

April 10, 2003 3.47 203,772 0.28 3.47 203,772 3.47
April 10, 2004 8.54 764,606 1.28 8.54 764,606 8.54
March 16, 2005 18.33 615,049 2.21 18.33 307,525 18.33
March 29, 2006 27.31 731,485 3.24 27.31 - -
April 24, 2007 25.76 979,940 4.32 25.76 - -
April 22, 2008 19.01 1,437,866 5.31 19.01 - -

4,732,718 1,275,903

As of December 31, 2007:

Outstanding options Exercisable options

Remaining
Exercise Outstanding contract life Exercise Exercisable Exercise

Gran date price - R$ options (in years) price - R$ options price - R$ 

April 10, 2002 5.85 238,940 0.28 5.85 238,940 5.85
April 10, 2003 3.28 1,016,810 1.28 3.28 1,016,810 3.28
April 10, 2003 8.06 1,117,810 2.28 8.06 558,905 8.06
March 16, 2005  17.31 831,670 3.21 17.31 - -
March 29, 2006 25.79 981,660 4.23 25.79 - -
April 24, 2007 24.33 1,269,955 5.32 24.33 - -

5,456,845 1,814,655

The weighted-average fair value of the options granted during the year
ended December 31, 2008, calculated based on the binomial pricing
model, was R$6.57 (R$9.73 in 2007) per option. The significant data in-
cluded in the model were: weighted-average price of each share of
R$18.66 (R$24.60 in 2007) on grant date, exercise price as presented
above, volatility of 43.22% (42.82% in 2007), dividend yield of 4.27%
(3.70% in 2007), an expected option life of three to four years, ac-
cording to each case, and a risk-free annual interest rate of 10.98%
(11.64% in 2007). 

As of December 31, 2008, the market price of each Company share
was R$18.99 (R$17.00 in 2007). 

21. PENSION PLAN  

On August 1, 2004, the Company implemented a supplementary de-
fined contribution pension plan for all employees of the Company and
its subsidiaries in Brazil. Under the terms of this plan, the cost is shared
between the employer and the employees, so that the Company’s
share is equivalent to 60% of the employee’s contribution, according
to a contribution scale based on salary ranges from 1% to 5% of the
employee’s compensation. The plan is managed by Brasilprev Seguros
e Previdência S.A. The contributions made by the Company and its
subsidiaries totaled R$3,076 in the year ended December 31, 2008
(R$3,808 in 2007). 

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

a) General conditions

The Company and its subsidiaries enter into transactions involving fi-
nancial instruments, all of which are recorded in balance sheet accounts,

for the purpose of reducing their exposure to currency and interest
rate risks, as well as maintaining their investment capacity and growth
strategy. These transactions include financial investments, loans, financ-
ing and derivative instruments. 

Risks and the financial instruments are managed through the definition
of policies and strategies and implementation of control systems, de-
fined by the Company’s Finance Committee and Board of Directors,
which establish foreign exchange exposure limits, allocate funds in fi-
nancial institutions. The compliance of the treasury area’s positions in fi-
nancial instruments, including derivatives, in relation to these policies, is
presented and assessed on a monthly basis by the Finance Committee
and subsequently submitted to the analysis of the Audit Committee,
the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors. 

The treasury area’s procedures defined by the current policy include
monthly projection and assessment of the Company’s and its sub-
sidiaries’ consolidated foreign exchange exposure, on which Manage-
ment’s decision-making is based. 

Even though the Company and its subsidiaries use derivatives for hedg-
ing purposes, it does not apply hedge accounting. 

Cash investments

Cash investments reflect market conditions at the balance sheet dates.
The “Cash Investment Policy” set forth by the Company’s Management
chooses the financial institutions with which contracts may be entered
into, in addition to establishing limits regarding percentages in the allo-
cation of funds and absolute amounts to be invested in each of them. 

Loans and financing 

Loans and financing are recorded based on the contractual interest
rates of each transaction, as shown in note 14. 

Almost in their entirety, 97.6% on December 30, 2008 and 96.3% on
December 30, 2007, foreign-currency denominated loans and financing
have been hedged against foreign exchange fluctuations since their re-
lated contracts were entered into.

Policies related to derivative financial instruments

1) Foreign exchange risks 

As a result of the various types of foreign-currency financial obligations
assumed by the Company and its subsidiaries, the Company imple-
mented a “Foreign Currency Hedging Policy”, setting forth exposure
levels pegged to these risks. The amounts in foreign currency of the bal-
ances receivable and payable of commitments already made and
recorded in the financial statements arising from the operations of the
Company and its subsidiaries, as well as future cash flows, with an av-
erage term of six months, not yet recorded in the balance sheet, aris-
ing from: (i) purchases of production inputs; (ii) imports of machinery
and equipment; and (iii) contributions to the result of each subsidiary
abroad in their respective currencies, are taken into account. The de-
rivative transactions are solely aimed at mitigating foreign exchange risks
associated to positions in the balance sheet plus anticipated cash flows
in foreign currency. 

The Company and its subsidiaries enter into derivative transactions
called swap and NDFs (Non-Deliverable Forwards) to hedge against
foreign exchange risks. 

2) Interest rate risks 

The policy adopted by the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ Management
regarding their interest rate exposure is to maintain the indices used to
adjust their interest rates payable and receivable pegged to floating
rates. Cash investments and loans and financing, except those adjusted
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by the long-term interest rate (TJLP), are adjusted by the interbank de-
posit rate (CDI) at floating rates. 

The Company and its subsidiaries contract derivatives called swaps in
order to mitigate the risks of loan and financing transactions entered
into with an adjustment index other than the floating rate CDI. 

The Company and its subsidiaries have no derivative financial instru-
ments for speculative purposes.

b) Foreign exchange exposure 

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the main account groups de-
nominated in foreign currency are as follows: 

Consolidated
2008 2007

Assets:
Trade accounts receivable (1) 2.887 629
Derivative instruments (2) 236.432 154.916

Total assets 239.319 155.545

Liabilities::
Loans and financing (3) (192.092) (112.248)
Trade accounts payable (4) (3.571) (2.076)

Total liabilities (195.663) (114.324)

Total exposure (5) 43.616 41.221

(1) Trade accounts receivable: reflect the balances receivable related to the
Company’s exports, not considering its foreign subsidiaries. 

(2) Derivative instruments: outstanding swap and forward contracts, shown
below, with maturities between January 2009 and February 2011, were en-
tered into with the banks Alfa (3%), Banco do Brasil (31%), ABN AMRO Real
(65%) and UBS Pactual (1%) and are broken down as follows:

Consolidated 
Adjusted Balance

contracted receivable 
amount (payable)

Type of transaction 2008 2007 2008 2007

“Financial swaps (2.1) 173,359 108,233 37,695 (6,244)
“Financial forwards (2.1) 14,022 - (112) -
“Operating forwards (2.2) 49,051 46,683 479 (107)

236,432 154,916 38,062 (6,351)

Balances receivable (payable) refer to the net adjustment receivable or payable,
calculated at fair value, as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, of the outstand-
ing derivatives entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries, in force in the
related periods. 

(2.1) In order to hedge against the financial exposures generated by foreign- -
currency denominated loans and financing, the Company and its subsidiaries
have been entering into swap and forward contracts aimed at mitigating the for-
eign exchange risks to which these loans and financing are subject. Swap trans-
actions consist of the swap of the foreign exchange fluctuation for an
adjustment based on a percentage of the floating rate CDI. Forward transac-
tions set a future exchange parity between the real and the foreign currency,
based on the parity on contract date, adjusted by a given fixed interest rate. 

2.2) Forward transactions are contracted to hedge against the so-called oper-
ating foreign exchange exposures, related to future cash flows. 

(3) Loans and financing: refer to the balances payable of loans and financing de-
nominated in foreign currency. As of December 31, 2008, of R$192,092,
R$154,384 is denominated in yens (Yen$5,807,729) and R$37,708 in U.S. dol-
lars (US$16,136,000). 

(4) Trade accounts payable: refer to the balances payable in foreign currency
owed to suppliers. 

(5) Total exposure: as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s receiv-
able exposure to foreign currency amounts to R$43,616 and R$41,221, respec-
tively. 

c) Interest rate exposure

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s receivable
(payable) exposure to interest rates is as follows::

Consolidated
2008 2007

Cash investments pegged to the CDI (1) 301,624 360,841
Loans and financing pegged to the CDI (2) (28,310) (204,135)
Currency to CDI swaps and forwards (3) (187,529) (108,115)
TR to CDI swaps (4) (25,827) (23,402)
Net CDI exposure (5) 59,958 25,189 

Loans and financing pegged to the TJLP (6) (206,833) (204,898)

(1) Cash investments: reflect the balances invested in bank certificates of deposit
(CDBs) at floating rates. 3.6% of the balance as of December 31, 2007 was in-
vested in investment funds. 

(2) Loans and financing: balances of transactions entered into with the financial
market directly pegged to floating rate CDI. 

(3) Currency swaps and forwards: balance of loan and financing transactions de-
nominated in foreign currency with the related derivative transactions, as shown
in item b)(2)(2.1). 

(4) TR swaps: the Company and its subsidiaries have entered into swap trans-
actions aimed at hedging against the exposure of liabilities pegged to the fluc-
tuation of TR (managed prime rate) related to the amount of R$28,310 that
account for part of the contracts of the credit facility called Agro-industry Credit
Note. As of December 31, 2008, as shown in note 14, the Company has
R$54,173 in Agro-industry Credit Notes.

Outstanding TR swap contracts, with maturities in June and July 2009,
were entered into with Banco Bradesco and are broken down 
as follows: 

Consolidated 

Adjusted Balance
contracted receivable 

amount (payable)
Type of transaction 2008 2007 2008 2007

“TR financial swaps 25,827 23,402 (378) (231)

The balances payable refer to the net adjustment payable, calculated at
fair value, as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, of the outstanding de-
rivatives entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries in force in the
respective periods, 

(5) Net CDI exposure: as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has
receivable exposures in relation to the floating rate CDI in the amounts of
R$59,958 and R$25,189, respectively. 

(6) Loans and financing pegged to the TJLP: reflect the balances of loans and fi-
nancing transactions contracted with the BNDES, FINEP, FINAME and FAT Fo-
mentar, as stated in note 14. 

Except for the TJLP, the Company’s receivable and payable exposures
are pegged to the same floating interest rate, with no mismatch. 

The Company’s Management considers the exposure risk to the TJLP
as low. The amounts involved are R$206,833 and R$204,898 as of De-
cember 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. 

The net balances receivable and payable arising from currency and for-
eign exchange swap and interest rate forward transactions are recorded
under the captions “Unrealized gains on derivative transactions” and
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“Allowance for losses on derivative transactions”, respectively, in current
assets and current liabilities. 

Financial derivative transactions entered into by the Company and its
subsidiaries do not require guarantee margins. 

d) Fair values

Cash investments 

The amounts of cash investments recorded in the financial statements
are similar to their realizable values, as transactions are carried out using
floating interest rates and have immediate liquidity. 

Loans and financing 

The amounts of loans and financing recorded in the financial statements,
except for those pegged to TJLP, account for most of the liabilities, as
they are pegged to a floating interest rate, in this case, the fluctuation
of CDI. 

The amounts of financing pegged to the TJLP are similar to the liabili-
ties recorded in the financial statements because the TJLP has a corre-
lation with the CDI and is a floating rate.  

Derivatives

Gains and losses on swap and forward derivative transactions out-
standing as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, considering their carrying
amounts and fair values, are as follows:

Consolidated 

2008 2007
Gains (losses) on swap and forward Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 
transactions amount value amount value 

Financial swaps 51,669 38,073 (8,170) (6,013)
TR financial swaps (264) (378) (40) (231)
Financial forwards (52) (112) - - 
Operating forwards 649 479 (304) (107)

52,002 38,062 (8,514) (6,351)

As mentioned in notes 2.b)(ii) and 2.o), derivatives are now meas-
ured at fair values, and the balance of unrealized gains as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008, in the amount of R$38,062, differs materially from the
balance of gains earned through that date, in the amount of R$52,002,
as measured based on the yield curve. Considering that financial
swaps consist basically of currency hedges, the notional values of
which are equal to the values of financial liabilities indexed to foreign
currencies, and the fact that the Company’s Management intends to
hold both the debt instruments and derivative instruments to their
maturity dates, the difference presented is classified as temporary, until
the final maturity of the transactions, and no financial losses resulting
therefrom are expected. 

At the end of each year, the Company and its subsidiaries consult the
financial institutions through which the derivative instruments were
entered into and adjust their respective values based on the current
market conditions of the derivative financial instruments.

e) Breakdown of derivative transactions 

(1) Derivatives

The information on derivatives entered into by the Company and its
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, arising from foreign-
currency denominated loans and financing, is as follows: 

Accumulated effect up to 
12/31/08 at fair value

Notional value Amount Amount
(reference) Fair value receivable payable

Description 2008 2007 2008 2007 (received)  (paid) 

Swap contracts-       
Asset position:
Long position-dollar 22,899 21,802 19,675 20,356 3,159 -
Long position-yen 90,000 90,000 141,284 90,993 34,914 -
TR 22,313 23,313 25,608 22,903 - (378)

135,212 135,115 186,567 134,252 38,073 (378)
Liability position-
Floating CDI rate: :
Long position-dollar 22,899 21,802 16,517 22,662 - -

Long position-yen 90,000 90,000 106,370 94,700 - -
TR 22,313 23,313 25,986 23,134 - -

135,212 135,115 148,873 140,496 - -

Forward contracts-
Long position-dollar 13,594 - 14,006 - - -

Liability position-
Fixed rate 13,594 - 14,118 - - (112)

(2) Operating derivatives

The information on operating derivatives as of December 31, 2008 and
2007 entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries to hedge against
the exposure arising from future cash flows is as follows: 

Accumulated effect up to 
12/31/08 at fair value

Notional value Amount Amount
(reference) Fair value receivable payable

Description 2008 2007 2008 2007 (received)  (paid) 
Forward contracts: 

Long position-dollar 45,314 21,554 46,687 25,522 14 -
Long position-euro 1,777 25,562 2,292 21,256 465 -

47,091 47,116 48,979 46,778 479 -

Liability position-
Fixed rate: :
Long position-dollar 45,314 21,554 46,673 21,380 - -
Long position-euro 1,777 25,562 1,827 25,505 - -

47,091 47,116 48,500 46,885 - -

f) Sensitivity analysis

For the derivatives shown in item e)(1) above, the Company’s Man-
agement understands that no sensitivity analysis should be performed,
as there are equivalent liabilities recorded in the balance sheet, offset-
ting the transactions, as shown in the following table: 

Total loans and financing in foreign currency 192,092

Adjusted value of contracted financial derivatives (187,381)

Foreign exchange risk 4,711

Similarly, the Company believes that the operating derivatives shown
in item e)(2) should not be taken into account in the sensitivity analy-
sis, as they were settled on January 6, 2009. 
Therefore, the sensitivity analysis will not be performed for the foreign
exchange derivatives position as of December 31, 2008 by the Com-
pany and its subsidiaries. 
The Company and its subsidiaries have no derivatives for 
speculative purposes.
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g) Credit risk

The sales of the Company and its subsidiaries are made to a large num-
ber of Natura beauty consultants and this risk is managed through a
strict credit granting process. The result of this management is reflected
under the allowance for doubtful accounts, as shown in note 6. 

The Company and its subsidiaries are also subject to credit risks re-
lated to the financial instruments entered into while managing their
businesses. The risk of default on transactions with the financial institu-
tions with which they operate, which are considered prime banks by the
market, is considered low.

23. FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSES) 

Company Consolidated
2008 2007 2008 2007

Financial income: 
Interest on cash investments 7,985 7,911 35,912 27,330
Inflation and exchange gains (a) 442 13,561 5,247 15,241
Gains on swap and forward 

transactions (b) 48,279 2,205 55,952 348
Other financial income 9,637 3,918 12,596 8,120

66,343 27,595 109,707 51,039

Financial expenses: 
Interest on financing (14,581) (5,731) (37,958) (26,454)
Inflation and exchange losses (a) (63,945) (57) (71,463) (2,727)
Losses on swap and forward 

transactions (b) - (25,140) - (26,812)
Other financial expenses (5,585) (948) (9,728) (2,286)

(84,111) (31,876) (119,149) (58,279)

The purpose of the account breakdowns below is to explain the results
of currency hedging transactions entered into by the Company, as well
as their contra entries recorded under financial income (expenses),
shown in the table above: 

Consolidated
2008 2007

(a)
Inflation and exchange gains 5,247 15,241
Inflation and exchange losses (71,463) (2,727)

(66,216) 12,514
(a) Breakdown
Exchange rate changes on loans and financing (72,387) 14,451
Adjustment for inflation on financing (796) (1,125)
Exchange rate changes on imports (919) (28)
Exchange rate changes on accounts payable
in subsidiaries abroad (6,399) 1,112

Exchange rate changes on export receivables 14,285 (1,896)

(66,216) 12,514
(b)
Gains on swap and forward transactions 55,952 348
Losses on swap and forward transactions - (26,812)

55,952 (26,464)
(b) Breakdown 
Exchange rate changes on swaps 71,577 (14,926)
Exchange rate changes on forwards 13,160 (3,337)
Swap and forward derivatives adjusted to fair value (13,942) 2,101
Income from foreign exchange coupon swaps 4,415 1,601
Financial costs of swaps (16,140) (11,498)
Financial costs of forwards (3,118) (405)

55,952 (26,464)

24. OTHER OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES)  
Company Consolidated

2008 2007 2008 2007
Other operating income: 
Gain on sale of property, plant 
and equipment 722 685 281 512
Untimely used PIS and 
COFINS credits (*) 30,921 - 30,921 -
Other - - - 3,461

Other operating expenses- 
Other - (4,766) (2,849) -

Other operating income 
(expenses), net 30,738 (4,081) 28,353 3,973

(*) In the second quarter of 2008, the Company recorded untimely used  PIS
and COFINS credits arising from expense, costs and charges related to its rev-
enues, incurred from May 2004 to December 2007, in the amounts of R$5,516
and R$25,405 for PIS and COFINS, respectively, totaling R$30,921. Such cred-
its were generated based on the new interpretation made by the Company of
certain provisions of Law No. 10,865/04, which definitely changed the taxation
system of such taxes on the revenues earned by the Company. The untimely
used PIS and COFINS credits were fully offset against other federal taxes in July
and August 2008.  

25. INSURANCE  

The Company and its subsidiaries contract insurance based principally
on risk concentration and significance, at amounts deemed sufficient by
Management, taking into consideration the nature of their activities and
the opinion of their insurance advisors. As of December 31, 2008, in-
surance coverage is as follows: 

Item Type of coverage Insured amount 

Industrial complex/ Any damages to buildings, 
inventories acilities and machinery and 688.519

equipment
Vehicles  Fire, theft and collision 

for 1,529 vehicles 51.728
Loss of profits Nonrealization of profits arising

from damages to facilities,
buildings and production  925.121
machinery and equipment
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Management and Shareholders of  Natura Cosméticos S.A 
São Paulo - SP - Brazil 

1. We have audited the accompanying individual (Company) and consolidated balance sheets of Natura Cosméticos S.A. and subsidiaries
a s
of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity (Company), cash flows and value
added for the years then ended, all expressed in Brazilian reais and prepared under the responsibility of the Company’s Management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements.

2. Our audits were conducted in accordance with auditing standards applicable in Brazil and comprised: (a) planning of the work, taking into
consideration the significance of the balances, volume of transactions, and the accounting and internal control systems of the Company and
its subsidiaries; (b) checking, on a test basis, the evidence and records that support the amounts and accounting information disclosed; and
(c) evaluating the significant accounting practices and estimates adopted by Company’s and its subsidiaries’ Management, as well as the
presentation of the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. In our opinion, the financial statements referred to in paragraph 1 present fairly, in all material respects, the individual (Company) and 
consolidated financial position of Natura Cosméticos S.A. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their op-
erations, the changes in its shareholders’ equity (Company), their cash flows, and the value added in their operations for the years then ended,
in conformity with Brazilian accounting practices. 

4. As mentioned in note 3, in view of the changes in Brazilian accounting practices, effective since the beginning of 2008, the individual 
(Company) and consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007, presented for comparative purposes, have been 
adjusted and are being restated as prescribed by Accounting Standard and Procedure (NPC) 12 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Ac-
counting Estimates and Errors. 

5. The accompanying financial statements have been translated into English for the convenience of readers outside Brazil. 

São Paulo, February 18, 2009

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Auditores Independentes

CRC nº 2 SP 011609/O-8

Altair Tadeu Rossato

Engagement Partner   - CRC nº 1 SP 182515/O-5


